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Tuesday, March 3, 2015

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.
MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today the Board is sitting in EB-2014-0116, a rate application brought by Toronto Hydro. 

     Before we begin, Mr. Lanni, would you like to enter an appearance?

     MR. LANNI:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  My name is Richmond Lanni, and I am counsel for the Board, appearing here today on Maureen Helt's behalf. 

     Madam Chair, I don't believe there are any preliminary 

issues. 

     MS. LONG:  No preliminary matters, Mr. Smith?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

     MR. SMITH:  One preliminary matter.  We had discussed at the end of the day on Friday the issue of argument and the possibility of oral argument, and I understood that March 19th might be a possibility, and if that is a possibility we would like to take it. 

     MS. LONG:  Do you have any idea how many hours you will be?  Will it be a half-day?

     MR. SMITH:  We would be done by lunch. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Have the intervenors given any thought to whether they want to do their argument orally or written?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we haven't talked to each other, but I can tell you that we would much prefer -- the Schools would much prefer to do ours in writing. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Is that the general consensus?  Thank you. 

     Mr. Smith, I just want to ask you one question about a transcript correction. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  I think it is the transcript correction with respect to the question that Mr. Dumka asked about the Society, Volume 6, page 5, line 20.  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  And the question was roughly how many of those are Society engineers, and I think Mr. Walker said:  "I think it is about 50."  And that is incorrect; and the correct answer should be?  

     MR. SMITH:  None of them are professional engineers.  I believe they perform engineering-type work, but I don't believe that they are professional engineers. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  So I just want the transcript to be clear, so the question was roughly how many of these are Society engineers, and the answer is zero?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, I just got a PDF from the Society unit VP, and -- of all of the Society-represented engineers, and I just literally picked it up two minutes ago.  And the indication is that there is over 40 Society-represented engineers in the organization that Mr. Walker has underneath him at Toronto Hydro. 

     So I am more than happy to e-mail the PDF over to my friends at Toronto Hydro, and maybe we can -- you know, they can have a closer look at this. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you can take this offline and sort it out and we will deal with the correction that needs to be made to the transcript at a later time. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yeah, no, I am happy to look at it.

     MS. LONG:  All right.  Then preliminary matters dealt with, we will turn to Mr. Shepherd to commence his cross-examination of panel 5.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I have an allotment of four hours; I expect I will use all of it. 

     I should say, Madam Chair, that I was a little concerned on panel 4 that some of the answers were lengthy and not entirely responsive.  You will recall that I had to cut witnesses off a number of times when they went into a speech.  If I have that today I am not going to finish. 

But I am going to try my best, and hopefully I get straight answers.

I am just sort of flagging the issue that I was concerned with last time. 

     MR. SMITH:  I trust it is not necessary for me to respond to that?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No. 

     And Madam Chair, I have a compendium. 

     MS. LONG:  Yes, I see that.  Can we mark that, please?  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, we don't have a copy of that.  The copies that we were given have been given to the witnesses, so I...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have more copies here.  I didn't realize you had six witnesses. 

     MS. LONG:  Let's ensure that Mr. Smith and Ms. Coben have copies.  Does everyone else have a copy?  

     MR. LANNI:  We will mark this as Exhibit K9.1. 


MS. LONG:  Okay.  

EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 5.

     MR. LANNI:  Cross-examination compendium of the School 

Energy Coalition.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And Madam Chair, there is some material in here that is new to the record, but that was provided in advance to my friends.  And they have, in fact, provided me with some corrections, and if the Board will allow, I would like to go through that first and get those corrections on the record so that we can start with the same playing cards --

       MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Madam Chair, it may be appropriate for me to raise an issue with respect to that. 

     Mr. Shepherd is quite correct that he provided us yesterday -- well, first on Sunday and then updated yesterday -- the spreadsheets that he is now going to take you to. 

     As I understand it, those spreadsheets are based, in part, on information provided by PEG in answer to undertakings that were given yesterday.


You might recall that when the issue of the undertakings arose on day 3 I expressed some concern about it.  What I can say is that we have not had an opportunity to discuss with PSE in a proper way the figures that underpin Mr. Shepherd's compendium, and we would like the opportunity to do that and to make whatever comment we need to make in relation to those numbers. 

     So for example, J3.4 -- which my friend is going to go to -- was a request to prepare essentially PEG's numbers in the form of PSE's table 2 in its reply report.  J3.5, for example, was an undertaking to look at bad debt expense, and Mr. Shepherd had put this to the witness on the basis that if we could eliminate bad debt as an item of concern, maybe that is a good thing, and I agree with that. 

     We have Dr. Kaufmann's J3.5, but his answer to 3.4, at least it doesn't appear to me -- but I'm not PSE.  I don't know the answer to this -- but 3.4 doesn't appear to reflect the answer to 3.5. 

     So if you want to look at PEG's results, I would have thought that those results would include the additional work they did on bad debt, but it doesn't. 

     So I'm fine if Mr. Shepherd proceeds, but I want it to be understood that we haven't had a chance to look at these numbers and we would like the opportunity to do so.  I don't think it affects Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination, but I don't want it to go by without making that comment.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I want to draw a distinction between the calculations that we made in our spreadsheet and the calculations that Dr. Kaufmann made that are in his undertaking responses, and I believe my friend is not concerned with the spreadsheet numbers.  They have looked at the spreadsheets and they have corrected them. 

     My friend is concerned with Dr. Kaufmann's numbers and whether his results that are comparable to PSE are, in fact, on the same basis; is that fair?  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, it is fair, in that what we did was we checked Mr. Shepherd's math and we have provided certain 

corrections to that, and we did that, and that's not in issue. 

     But I raise the observation because Mr. Shepherd's spreadsheet is built upon the PEG numbers, and those numbers I have simply not had an opportunity to check with PSE. 

     So in the normal course, as I have heard Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination now many times, we will be asked to take things subject to check.  I have not had a chance to check those underlying numbers, and it is a particular issue in this case because of the concerns that we articulated on day 3, and I don't think we need to revisit those, but I do think it is important I alert you to that.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I think as you see me go through my cross, my point doesn't depend on whether Dr. Kaufmann got bad debt right.  As we're going to go through it, you will see that my point is quite a different one.

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, let's proceed, and Mr. Smith, if you have some objections to specific concerns to certain numbers you will flag them, and I am sure your witnesses will caution if they have concerns. 

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I can't raise -- I can't raise a concern with the specific numbers beyond what I have done already, because I have not had a chance to do so.  What I would like to do specifically is discuss this with PSE, and if I do have a concern we will alert the Board.  Obviously 

it will have to be in writing because of the timing of all of this, but in the normal course that is what we would do. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, let's see how this goes.  Mr. Shepherd, that being said, do we have copies of the revised charts?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to take you through the changes.  There is only a few of them. 

     MS. LONG:  There's only a few?  Okay.
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CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So who corrected the spreadsheets?  

     MR. RUCH:  That would be me. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My name is Jay Shepherd, by the way.  I don't think we have met. 

     MR. RUCH:  Good morning. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the first one, I think, is page 17 of our materials, and this is the PEG cost model results from J3.4.


And what you have done is you have identified that, lawyer that I am, I don't know how to calculate compound annual growth rate, and so I got all of those numbers wrong.  Right?  

     MR. RUCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the columns "Five-year moving average increase," the two columns, they're all wrong, right?  

     MR. RUCH:  My interpretation of what you meant by "five-year moving average increase" was on a compound basis. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. RUCH:  So yes, we have provided the corrected numbers. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to suggest you take those out because I am not going to refer to them anyway. 

     Then the second thing is the compound annual growth rates for 12 years and 17 years at the bottom, you see that 2.43 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That should be 2.27 percent, right? 

     MR. RUCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 3.64 percent below it -- 

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- should be 3.06 percent? 

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There are two other corrections.  For Toronto, that 5.81 percent -- do you see that?

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Should be 4.71?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 8.36 percent should be 

5.64 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's the only changes in this?  Otherwise the math is fine here?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Madam Chair, it may just be opportune to point out what I was getting at.  The percentages that Mr. Shepherd has taken you to hinge upon, obviously, the numbers above.  


Those are the numbers that we have had no ability yet to check. 

     And so these things are going to get marked and they will become part of the record, and that is why we need to check them. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  I hear your concern.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I hope my friend isn't going to correct 

everything on that basis.  

     Then page 32 is the same table, but with PEG's cost model from 3.7.1, right?  J3.7.1? 

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are -- the same corrections have to be made on that one, right?  The five-year moving averages, all wrong?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  My daughter is going to take grade 13 math over again, and I am going to take it with her. 

     And the 12-year compound annual growth rate of 2 should be 1.90?  

     MR. RUCH:  For the 12 years, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And for the 17 years, that 2.49 percent 

should be 2.25 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then for Toronto, the 12 years, 5.55 should be 4.54?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 8.17 should be 5.55?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And now this is correct, subject to my 

friend's caveat?  

     MR. RUCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want you to go back now to page 13 of our materials.  

This is the same spreadsheet, but with the PSE cost model results, right?  

     This was, in fact, provided to the company on February 20th, I believe, or the 21st.  Is that right?  

     MR. RUCH:  I'm not sure if that is true. 

     MR. SMITH:  It was provided, but I don't know the date. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you haven't corrected that one, right?  

     MR. RUCH:  I only corrected the documents that you sent in Sunday and updated on Monday. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Does anybody have corrections for the page 13 that you got some time ago?  I am just wondering why, if it was wrong, why I didn't know it a week ago rather than this morning.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, if there are corrections that need to be made to the compound annual growth rate, we will do that by way of undertaking.  But as you can imagine, there's a lot of things going on in the hearing.  If that didn't get corrected, I apologize. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am going to ask is, Madam Chair, if we can, at the break, get the corrected numbers.  There's only four numbers to be corrected.  And I think my friend will agree with me that when I show him what the corrections are, based on their own formula, my friend will agree that they're correct. 

     So I am proposing we do that at the break, so that this can now be a correct table that the Board can rely on, if that is all right with you.

     MR. SMITH:  I think that that should be fine.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, in addition to my 

compendium, Madam Chair, members of the Panel, I will be 

referring to schedule 7 of Exhibit 1B, tab 2, which is the 

customer engagement piece. 

     I have not included most of that in the compendium because it is quite a big pile.  But I probably won't get to that until lunch time anyway, so we don't need to worry. 

     I want to start, though -- and I suspect these questions are for you, Ms. Klein, with a series of questions about the Renewed Regulatory Framework. 

     Would I be right that you are the only member of the 

Toronto Hydro executive management team giving evidence in this proceeding?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I am the only witness, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And all of the other witnesses for 

Toronto Hydro are in more junior positions to you, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That is correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there any reason why the president or the CFO or somebody like that didn't take the stand to justify the spending proposal in this application?  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shepherd, members of the Board, the 

witnesses are the witnesses that have been called.  If my friend wants to make something of that in argument, I suppose he can make something of that in argument, although that would be surprising to me. 

     But they are the witnesses that we have called in respect to this application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I actually phrased it as a 

question on purpose.  The company is asking for $1.2 billion extra, and normally you would think that the president would be up there saying:  This is why we need this.

And I am asking if there is a particular reason why that is not the case.  

The answer can be there is no particular reason; they just chose to put these witnesses.  That's fine.  But if there is a particular reason, I would like to know what it is.  

     MR. SMITH:  There is not a particular reason, Mr. Shepherd.  These are the witnesses who have knowledge of the matters included in the revenue requirement that is sought in the application, and it is not the normal matter.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the president and the CFO don't?  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shepherd, in the normal course, these are the witnesses you would normally see in an application like this.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I wonder if you could turn to our compendium at page 2.

This is a table that shows basically -- it's a three-page or two-and-a-half-page table that shows how 

your application and your approach aligns with the RRFE, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're the author of this table, Ms. Klein?  

     MS. KLEIN:  This table was prepared under my supervision. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is the author of the table on the panel or --

     MS. KLEIN:  I am testifying to this table. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It was a simple question.  Is the author on the panel, or not?  

     MS. KLEIN:  This is my evidence, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     So you have seven elements here that you say are the main points of guidance by the Board on custom IR plans, right? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the first is that there should be a productivity factor and a stretch factor that use the Board's analysis, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That's correct.  That’s what it says in the first column, number one. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't do that?  You actually 

proposed a variation on the Board's analysis with respect to stretch factor, right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. RUCH:  That's in reference to the fact that we've 

retained the Board's methodology for assigning stretch factors, which comport part of the productivity, the X factor.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the Board has a set of stretch factor cohorts, and you assigned yourself to a different one, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We have requested, as part of this application, a custom stretch factor building on the PEG analysis that the Board has adopted.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And with respect to productivity, you have adopted the zero productivity factor, but you've said in your evidence that's really not zero.  That really includes an additional stretch factor, because the -- your real productivity is negative.  Right?  Isn't that what you said in your evidence?  

     MR. RUCH:  No.  That's incorrect. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's fine.  

     Then the second item is the Board says it needs a "rigorous assessment of the adequacy of the past and future productivity levels," right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, that's what it says there. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have provided the evidence of Mr. Fenrick to respond to that, and you have also provided a description of your past efforts to achieve productivity, right?  That is your evidence on this point, right?  

     MR. SEAL:  Mr. Fenrick's evidence was the benchmarking evidence, comparing the benchmark to Toronto Hydro's information.  And we did provide the past productivity and efficiency evidence that described the programs and things that we did over the historical period that contributed towards productivity, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you will agree, won't you, that the purpose of having benchmark evidence, benchmarking evidence that the RRFE is driving at, is that the Board wants something to support the reasonableness of your cost forecast, right?  That is the purpose?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  That's one of the purposes, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there another purpose?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We also rely on the evidence of PSE with respect to the custom stretch factor. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the benchmarking is for two purposes.  You've listed one purpose here in your materials.  You say:  "to support the reasonableness of cost forecast."  Which is a quote from the Board, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But there is another purpose of the 

benchmarking as well, which is stretch factors, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  And that's addressed in point 1 in this table, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  And the conceptual reason for supporting the reasonableness of your cost forecast is that -- tell me whether this is right -- the Board doesn't actually approve the line items of your spending.  It approves rates, and from that comes an overall revenue requirement, and you spend it actually as you see fit.  Right?  That's the rules.

MS. KLEIN:  Yes, the Board approves a revenue requirement.  We have provided the details that we have in this application in order to provide the justification of that revenue requirement and insight into what we intend to use that money for over the five-year term. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but my point was this.  The Board doesn't approve the line items, does it?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I said I agreed with you on that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  And so what you do then is you've come in with a bottom-up analysis of what you want to spend the money on, but you're not saying you're actually going to spend the money on those things, right?  Because you know in fact it's going to be different.  True?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, that's not how I would put it.  I think that, as we've described in the evidence, the analysis had both bottom-up and top-down elements as part of it in terms of the plans that we've built for this application.  Those are our plans for the next five years, in terms of how we anticipate spending the money. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, understood.  But that bottom-up analysis, that full budget, is not -- you don't think that is actually what's going to happen.  In fact, you have said numerous times in your application that you need flexibility to move money around because things will change, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We have said that we need flexibility specifically with respect to the detailed capital work that we execute over the term of the plan.  But sitting here today, those are our forecasts of what we expect to occur in the next five years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And because you're not tied to any of that bottom-up analysis, you can actually spend it any way you like.  The top-down analysis is a test of reasonableness; isn't that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I don't agree that we can spend the money any way we like.  There are certain constraints in terms of what a utility does and its activities, and we would spend the money on those utility activities. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board can't come in 2017 and say:  We expected you to spend $122.3 million on transformers and you only spent 87 million.  Give us back the money.  Right?

MS. KLEIN:  Our proposal in this application is for a revenue requirement for five years, and we have predicated that request on the basis of detailed forecasts on both capital and OM&A over those five years, and those are contained within the application. 

     Again, sitting here today, those are our best forecasts of what we expect to occur.  There will be real operational needs on the ground.  We will have external factors that come to bear with respect to the capital program that will require some flexibility, and that is our obligation as the utility to, of course, respond to those system needs over the period. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Agreed.  So what I am trying to get at here is actually not the bottom-up -- we've talked about that at some length -- but at the top-down component of it.  

     So the top-down component is supposed to be a reasonableness test, isn't it?  It is supposed to be:  Here, at a broad-brush level, is how the Board can understand a reasonable level of costs for this utility.  Isn't that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  The top-down exercise that we engaged in was a balancing of the reasonableness in the context of needs, and it was balancing effectively two things: the needs of the system and the impact on customers.

And that reasonableness judgment is -- comes in through the synthesis of that analysis and data. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that sounds, then, like what you did is you did a bottom-up analysis and then you said:  Okay.  Is this too much?  Maybe we should -- let's see if we can scale it back a bit.

Is that about right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, I don't think that's right.  I think you had this discussion at length with Mr. Jamal the other day, and that is not what he said, and that is not what we did.  

     We effectively -- as I mentioned, we effectively -- we balanced two things.  We looked at the needs of the systems and we looked at the impacts on our customers.  And with this synthesis of data and analysis and experience, we put forward a proposal, and that proposal represents our judgment based on the synthesis. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We heard from OPG a couple of years ago that they had gone to a top-down budgeting approach in which management started the process by saying:  Here's the envelope that we think is reasonable.  Go do budgets that achieve our goals within these numbers. 

     You didn't do anything like that, did you?  In fact, Mr. Jamal was very clear that nothing like that was done, right? 

     MS. KLEIN:  We did not provide a number or a top-down envelope.  What we did was the instruction to management was to put forward what they believed was required and then to exercise some constraint with respect to what is needed. 

And those were then reviewed in the context of a lot of information and analysis to assist with this balancing exercise between system needs and customer impacts.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But at no time during your budget process did you communicate that only certain levels of increase would be acceptable or reasonable?  That never happened at all, right?  

     The only thing we heard of was Mr. Couillard saying to Mr. Jamal:  Well, if you could keep it at inflation, that would be good.  Ad then nobody ever bothered to do that; isn't that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, that's not correct.  The instructions were provided by the executive that the departments should come forward with their 2015 needs, as those needs would persist for five years, and exercise some constraint before requesting increases, but where increases were requested over current levels -- this is on OM&A -- be prepared to justify those increases. 

     And I understand and I have confirmed with Mr. Jamal that the instruction regarding inflation that I believe you're referring to was from 2015 onwards regarding the OM&A envelope. 

     So we're speaking about OM&A here.  Capital, the engineers have spoken to about, and I believe you also had a discussion with Mr. Jamal about.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am right, then, that at no time did Toronto Hydro ever impose any limit on spending proposal, top-down limit:  This percentage is acceptable, this is not?  Anything like that?  At no time?  

     MS. KLEIN:  There was not a specific target number given.  There was not a particular percentage provided.  

     Again, the top-down instruction was to put forward what the expert in those areas believe is required and to exercise some constraint in doing so, and there was that iterative exercise with those requests coming in and reviewing those requests as a whole, and considering factors such as functional requirements, customer service and rate impacts, and then synthesizing the data, the analysis, the information that was received, and balancing, again, those customer needs against things like customer impacts such as rate impacts and coming forward with a proposal.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you first have, from Mr. Fenrick and his company, the annual cost increases from the benchmark US utility?  When did you first have that data?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  I don't think we have a date for you on that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it before your budgets were finalized?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Generally, I'm unsure about the timelines sitting here.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I take it then that benchmarking 

Toronto Hydro to other utilities had no influence whatsoever on the budgets you are putting before this Board, did it?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  If the question is whether we considered costs and impacts on customers, we certainly did.  That was -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that wasn't my question. 

     MS. KLEIN:  -- part of the exercise. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My question was very clear.  Did your 

benchmarking analysis have any influence on your budgeting?  

     MS. KLEIN:  The specific report that was filed in the 

context of this proceeding would not have had an impact directly on the budgeting exercise.  

As I think we have discussed, we did consider rate impacts, overall cost impacts on customers, as part 

of the business planning exercise.  And we're certainly cognizant of those rate impacts and the costs associated with the plan. 

     And that was a particular factor, in terms of the constraint and the restraint we exercised with respect to the plans and proposals that we put forward. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  At no time did you -- tell me whether this is right.  At no time during your process of getting to the numbers that you've presented to this Board, at no time did you test those empirically to see whether the increases you were asking for were reasonable, from a benchmarking point of view.  

You had no data that you applied to see whether they were reasonable; correct?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think that's what the results show, Mr. 

Shepherd, the results of the PSE benchmarking work.  They speak to the reasonability of the total costs.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, we're going to get to that.  I am asking a different question. 

     When you decided your total costs, did you have any 

information as to whether they were reasonable?  

Bottom-up?  Absolutely, you had piles.  Top-down, you had zero, right?  

In fact, what you had was the PEG report that the Board did, showing you were one of the least productive utilities in the province.  That's all you had, right?

     MS. KLEIN:  No, I wouldn't agree with you that we didn't have any top-down indicators of reasonableness.  I mean, that is precisely at the heart of this judgment exercise of balancing needs of the system and impacts on customers that we are conducting internally as we were putting together the business plans, and there is a 

top-down component of that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why don't you show us the document that you relied on, the empirical analysis that you relied on, because I haven't seen it in the evidence.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Again, this is our -- - the product is what you have in the application before you.  This is the synthesis of the data, and the analysis and the judgment of the company that is put into this application and the proposals in this application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect, that is non-responsive.  My question is a very simple one.

If you applied empirical, top-down analysis in any way in your budget, in your budget process, there will be a document showing those empirical results.  

Show us the document.  If there is no document, just say so.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, the document is the application.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the end of the process.  That is not the process that you went through.  

     You set a budget based on what people asked for.  You had no top-down limits at all.  Right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  What we did from the perspective –- again, this synthesis of judgment and data is -- we constrained what we put forward. 

     So we put forward less than what we have assessed would be optimal, but a budget that, both on OM&A and capital, we feel balances the system needs and the risks, along with customer impacts.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just hypothesize that the Board concludes that the benchmarking evidence before this Board shows that your costs are higher than the benchmark costs.  What do you think the Board should take from that fact?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Based on the PSE results that are filed in this proceeding, Toronto Hydro is above the benchmark, or projected to be for 2015 to 2019.  

But we are within that plus or minus 10 percent that is required in order for us to receive the custom stretch factor that we have requested as part of this application. 

     And the point, of course, of that report in part is to 

demonstrate the reasonableness of the costs that we have 

requested.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board accepts Mr. Fenrick's 

evidence, then you're only about 7 percent above the 

benchmark.  And Board should say:  That's okay.  We'll fix that with the stretch factor.  Right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I don't think we're disagreeing on the facts, Mr. Shepherd, that Toronto Hydro is projected to be several percent above the benchmark for 2015-2019. 

     The test for the stretch factor is the plus or minus 10 percent, and the percentage above the benchmark that we are is within that test. 

     You will see, I know, in some of the charts that you have provided -– sorry, at page 15 of your compendium. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MS. KLEIN:  You will see the red and blue line, Toronto Hydro being the red line, start to diverge in 2007.  And this trend is consistent with the ramp-up of our capital investment program, which that ramp-up, of course, started in 2007 to address the renewal of aging assets. 

     So this is following the case on capital need that we have been discussing, and of course bringing before this Board for nearly a decade now.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So again, I am going to ask my 

question again -- and by the way, this is not about your 

costs being higher; it's about your rate of change being higher.  The previous page is about your costs being higher. 

     But in any case, leave that aside.  We're going to get to that in a second. 

     What my question was is:  What should the Board conclude from the fact that your costs are going to be higher in this period than the benchmark?  

     Your expert and the Board's expert disagree on by how much, and the disagreement is huge, but there is no disagreement that they're going to be higher, right?  

     What should the Board conclude from that?  

     MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, is this a factual question, or is this simply a matter for argument?  Because we are going to say whatever we say in argument about the work that PSE has done and what the Board should conclude from that and the work that PEG has done and what the Board is going to do about that, but I don't think this is a question, a factual question for the witness.

It seems to me to be a question about what Toronto Hydro's position is going to be in argument, and I don't think that is an appropriate factual line of inquiry. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you don't just ask witnesses facts.  You ask them about what their proposals are, what they're expecting. 

     MS. KLEIN:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, I can certainly tell you about what our proposals are.  I mean, we have -- it's certainly beyond dispute that Toronto Hydro has significant capital needs, and --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that beyond dispute?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That the utility has significant capital needs?  I mean, this is --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  How is that beyond dispute?  Because you think so?  

     MS. KLEIN:  This is a fact that has been demonstrated throughout the thousands of pages of evidence in this application.  This is something that our engineers sat up at this witness stand and spoke about for several days.  We have significant capital needs.  These needs drive the need for increased capital.  This increased multi-year significant capital needs drives the need for why we are bringing a custom IR application, and that you see some of the costs of that are reflected, of course, in the rates for the period '15 to '19.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I asked what the Board should take from your costs being higher than the benchmark.  Now I am going to ask the more interesting question, perhaps, and that is:  What do you believe the Board should take from the evidence that your costs are growing at a significantly faster rate than the benchmark and have been since 2007?  What should the Board conclude from that?  

     MR. SMITH:  Again, Madam Chair, is this a factual question that my friend is asking?  Or is he asking us to give him our position in argument?  Because I think one is perfectly appropriate and the other is not a matter of cross-examination.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the applicant has filed evidence saying:  Here is how we comply with the RRFE.  Here's how we show that our costs are reasonable.  We filed this evidence.

I am saying:  Okay, it is your evidence.  Tell us how this shows you comply with the RRFE.  Tell us how increasing your costs at twice the rate of your own benchmark is complying with the RRFE.

Surely I should have an answer to that.  

     MS. LONG:  I think that is a different question.  

     MR. SMITH:  So do I. 

     MS. LONG:  So I think the witness can answer that question, although, Mr. Shepherd, you may have to repeat it for Ms. Klein, but I think that line of questioning is fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. LONG:  I can actually read it back.  So Mr. Shepherd is asking how your costs and reasonableness of those costs show that you comply with the RRFE.  "Tell us how increasing your costs at twice the rate of your own benchmark is complying with the RRFE."  

     MS. KLEIN:  I wonder if we can turn up the RRFE report to page 19.  So at the first full paragraph, the first sentence of the first full paragraph:

"The custom IR method will be most appropriate for distributors with significantly large multi-year or highly variable investment commitments that exceed historical levels." 

     So we have significant multi-year capital investments.  That is contemplated in the RRFE that we are an appropriate filer for a custom IR application. 

     So you asked specifically how our application complies with the RRFE.  At the beginning of this examination you turned me up to our exhibit in the application that discusses at length how we have addressed the Ontario Energy Board's policy guidance as part of this application.  There are a number of features that are in compliance with the RRFE.  You have asked specifically about the rate of change of costs associated, and as I have mentioned to you, that rate of change tracks the ramp-up of the capital investment program to address the significant need of renewal of assets and the backlog.  As we're sitting here today, I believe it is 26 percent of our assets are past their useful life. 

     This is the primary driver of our capital program, and in the context of the reasonableness, the test for the stretch factor of 0.3 percent is plus or minus 10 percent, and we remain within that plus or minus 10 percent to meet the test for the 0.3 stretch factor.

The overall reasonableness of the costs, again, are detailed in the findings of PSE in their report.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying desperately, Madam Chair, to get a connection between the benchmarking and the ask.  And I don't think I have yet got a connection between the benchmarking and the ask.  

     I am going to come back to it later, but I am trying to give the witnesses an opportunity to answer this evidence, because their own evidence looks bad for them.  

     Let me go to item 3.  This is on page 3 of our materials -- 

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I am going to register an objection.  I think my friend has received appropriate answers to appropriate factual questions.  If he wants to have an argument, there will be an argument period for this. 

     The problem Mr. Shepherd has is that the rate of change which he wants the Board to focus on is nowhere found in the Board's own assignment of cohort designations.  That's the fundamental problem.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Precisely.  Thank you.  

     All right.  So item 3 is -- of the guidance that you have referred to is performance measures, and you have proposed 12 performance measures, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, we have. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, none of those are based on unit costs, are they?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, they are not. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have some based on reliability, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have provided no evidence to this Board showing the empirical link between capital spending and reliability, have you?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, of course this panel is not the expert on the capital evidence, but the capital evidence does outline some reliability forecasts that are outputs of the investment plan that we have proposed as part of this application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And you have provided no evidence of an empirical link between the two.  In fact, your own benchmarking witness, who benchmarked costs and reliability, said he couldn't give an empirical link between the two; isn't that right?  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, if you're just asking this panel to confirm your summary of what Mr. Fenrick was asked about in his testimony, I don't think that is appropriate either.  He was asked this line of questions and he gave certain answers.

       MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually a setup question for the next question, which is:  How can the Board determine whether the capital spending you want to make is a reasonable amount, given the reliability that you propose to achieve, if there is no empirical evidence as to the connection?

But, I mean, my friend doesn't appear to want me to ask the hard questions.  

     MR. SMITH:  What I don't want my friend to do is summarize somebody else's evidence and then ask them to agree with it.  The transcript says what it says.  And these witnesses can't be expected to memorize the transcript and then agree to a characterization of someone else's evidence.  That is the only objection I am making.  

     MS. LONG:  Can you rephrase the question, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will actually move on, Madam Chair.  This is the final panel, right?  This is the panel that is supposed to be the final justification for it.  And I would have thought that this is where everything comes together.  If my friend is saying:  No, this is not where everything comes together, great.  I can't do anything about that.  It is their case to make. 

     MR. SMITH:  That is not fair either.  The case is broken out into panels, with panels having responsibility for certain aspects of the evidence. 

     All aspects of the evidence, including all of the IRs and all of the undertakings, have been assigned to witnesses. 

     Witnesses -- that area of level of responsibility, or the disaggregation of the responsibility, has been given to 

everybody who is conducting a cross-examination. And it is a reasonable expectation that people will be responsible for their areas and testify to those areas.  

I don't think it is fair to put capital questions to the non-capital panel, on the basis that they happen to be last in line.  

     MS. LONG:  I agree with you, Mr. Smith, that this panel should not be expected to summarize evidence that has gone before it, especially from experts. 

     However, Mr. Shepherd is able to canvass how this application fits within the RRFE, which is something that the Board has to consider.  

So to the extent that that generally goes to a 

discussion of capital, benchmarking and reasonableness,  those are reasonable questions, if framed properly. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I agree.

I am going to move on to number 4, which is customer engagement.  We're going to talk in more detail about that later, but I am just going to ask at a high level, and perhaps you could explain:  What is your understanding of the purpose of customer engagement?  

     MS. KLEIN:  At a high level, we undertook the customer 

engagement exercise to assess the needs and preferences of our customers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree, I think, that customer 

engagement is not about getting your customers to tell you where or on what you spend your money, right?  That is not what it is about?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, we're not asking our customers to do our job.  

     We ask them to tell us what they think about what we propose to do over the next five years.  Hearing from our customers is beneficial to us, of course.  

     This particular engagement exercise provided us an 

opportunity to hear from our customers over and above the 

numerous ways that we engage with them on a daily basis. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  The fifth item is a Distribution System Plan, and you’ve filed a Distribution System Plan, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, we have.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And your capital plan in this application, am I right that it doesn't spend at the same right as your DSP?  

Is that right, that your capital plan actually spends at a lower rate than your DSP says is optimal?  

     MS. KLEIN:  The DSP contained within this case is synonymous with our proposal in this case.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I heard evidence to say that you had calculated what your optimal rate of spend was, but it was too much so you scaled it back.  Am I wrong there?  

     MS. KLEIN:  If I could turn you to Exhibit 2B, section 00, pages 15 to 17, there was several discussions with panel 1 around three different investment approaches, the third being what we proposed in this application, the other two being options that we did not propose, for reasons including larger rate increases associated with those plans, as well as what the utility could execute in the near term.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Item 6 is a variance analysis of OM&A, and you have provided a past variance analysis.  But in the future, you are proposing a formula, so there is no variance analysis provided, right?  It is not necessary; it's a formula.  

     MS. KLEIN:  We have provided a variance analysis up to the test year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the last item is a requirement that you have regard to the cost of service filing requirements, and you followed this very precisely for 2015 because you filed as sort of a -- like, a full rebasing for 2015, right?  Cost of service?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We are seeking to rebase in 2015, particularly on OM&A, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the reason I went through these things is I want to see if we can understand what the main areas of disagreement are between you and the other parties. 

     The first is that we disagree on what your level of past and future productivity has been, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I don't know at this point what the other parties' positions are.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is day 9 of the hearing. 

     MS. KLEIN:  And there's been no statement about your 

position.  There's been cross-examination and questions, and I am happy to address that, but --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just trying to narrow down the issues here. 

     You will agree there is evidence with respect to your past and future productivity, and that evidence is not all consistent.  There is a broad difference, isn't there?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I don't know what you mean.  When you say there is a difference between past and future productivity levels, I'm sorry but I am not following you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  A difference between your evidence on past and future productivity -- which you say is:  Fine, thanks very much -- and the evidence of Dr. Kaufmann which says:  No, you've been a poor performer.  Isn't that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I mean, we have brought forward custom benchmarking evidence as part of this application, and, I believe, as we were encouraged to do so by the Board.  The results of that are contained within PSE's report.

We as this panel rely on that report, but don't have anything in particular further to add to it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am not going to pursue this any further.  

     Let me turn to page 12 of our materials; this is the reasonableness testing with respect to your costs.  

     You will recognize table 2 here, which is Mr. Fenrick's current opinion, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And his current opinion is that on a log basis now, in 2002 Toronto Hydro was 28 percent less costly than the US benchmark, and by 2019 it will be 7 percent more costly; is that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if we go to page 14, will you agree that that graph correctly sets that out, Mr. Fenrick's conclusions on cost compared to the benchmark?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Subject to check, I think that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will agree, won't you, that basically what we have here is we have the blue line, a hypothetical US utility that is identical to Toronto Hydro, except it has the median costs for the US data set, right?  Sorry, not median, but mean?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, you're characterizing a report that this panel is not -- we don't have the expert with us to testify on this.  I believe that he appeared earlier last week.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You put forward the benchmarking evidence, and you said there are certain conclusions that can be drawn from it. 

     I am asking about what conclusions can be drawn from it.  You were here when Mr. Fenrick told us exactly what I just said.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, that is the very point.  Mr. Shepherd did ask this question of Mr. Fenrick, and there was a back-and-forth, a couple of questions.  But that very question was put to Mr. Fenrick. 

     If my friend has that evidence, I am not sure of the utility of putting the very same question to these witnesses. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will assume it, and then we will move on. 

     MR. SMITH:  He does not need to assume it.  He has whatever evidence was given by Mr. Fenrick, period.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree that the whole point of the benchmarking activity that you contracted for was to provide a fair comparison of Toronto Hydro to a benchmark, right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Madam Chair, the questions are not hard.  That's a pretty simple question.  I don't understand why it requires a whole discussion.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, clearly Ms. Klein is looking for something, so I want her to have the opportunity to give a complete answer.  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think the point of the benchmarking activities that we've put forward can actually be found on page 1 of PSE's report, in combination with the table that you have taken me to a couple of times, which we don't need to turn up.  Maybe we can just turn up page 1 of PSE's report.  And that table was in your compendium, that our applicants are expected to provide benchmarking evidence in support of the reasonableness of the cost forecasts. 

     So that's certainly the Board's guidance, was a driver of the point of bringing the benchmarking evidence.

The particular benchmarking evidence that we brought, we asked PSE to investigate the possibility of expanding the scope of utility observations beyond Ontario in order to assess the potential effect of certain business conditions experienced by Toronto Hydro.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it intended that the benchmarking be a fair comparison?  Yes or no?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  The objective of the benchmarking, from our perspective, was to take effectively the PEG model and provide further information and further data points to increase the scope of those utility observations in order to provide more comparisons for Toronto Hydro.  So to move in the direction of a more fair comparison from Toronto Hydro's perspective.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So do I take it, then, that you don't think it is fair yet, but it is fairer than what the Board's model had produced earlier?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, Mr. Shepherd.  I don't think that is what I said.  Certainly the objective of the benchmarking exercise is to provide a fair comparison.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so the chart on page 14 -- which is the cost charts, not the rate of change chart yet.  It is the cost chart.  Appears to show -- and I am going to ask you whether Toronto Hydro believes this to be correct -- that at the beginning of this period Toronto Hydro had much lower costs for a long period of time up to almost -- up to today than the US benchmark, but that in the test period, the five-year custom IR period, your costs will go above the benchmark.


Do you agree that that is -- is that what you believe to be true?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, we do, and we think that this trend line is consistent with the significant capital needs of the system and the needs for investment over the five-year period. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.


Now, we asked Mr. Fenrick whether he had any information as to why your costs were lower to now than the benchmark, and he wasn't able to tell us.  He was able to theorize, but he had no empirical evidence. 

     Do you have any evidence of the reason why your costs were lower starting in 2002 than the benchmark?  Do you have anything separate from what Mr. Fenrick was able to help us with?  

     MS. KLEIN:  You're asking me about Mr. Fenrick's evidence, and again I struggle with that, but what I can say is that the trend with respect to the red line is consistent with the ramp-up of the capital program that began in 2007 to address the significant backlog of aging assets.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're very good at keeping on message, but that was not my question.

I asked the setup question:  Do you believe it is true that your costs were lower in 2002?  You said yes.

So now can you tell us why that was?  Forget Mr. Fenrick.  Can you tell us why your costs were lower in 2002?  Either you can or you can't.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I have answered your question to the best of my knowledge.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't hear an answer.  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I didn't hear an answer to that.  It is a "yes" or "no" question.  Either she can tell us or not.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, I think her evidence was -- and I don't want to mischaracterize it -- is that the capital projects were not being completed.  I think that is what she discussed. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't hear that.  What I heard was:  You asked me about Mr. Fenrick's evidence.  I don't know anything about that.

     MS. LONG:  "You're asking me about Mr. Fenrick's evidence, and again I struggle with that, but what I can say is that the trend with respect to the red line is consistent with the ramp-up of the capital program that began in 2007 to address the significant backlog of aging assets."

So I took from that that she was referring to a significant backlog of aging assets. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is that right?  So your evidence is that the reason why your costs were lower in 2002 was that you had a significant backlog of aging assets?  Is that your evidence?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, that's not my evidence.  I think I have spoken about the trend of the ramp-up of the capital program from 2007, and you're asking me about the years before 2007.

And when I look at this line and I know that the ramp-up of capital investments began in 2007, prior to 2007, to me all this trend demonstrates is that we didn't make those investments earlier, which also of course means that customers didn't pay for them earlier, and we began ramping up the capital program in 2007, which is consistent with this line. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have evidence on this that you didn't invest sufficiently in capital up to 2002?  You have evidence of that? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, that is not what I said. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I asked you very specifically:  The difference in 2002, tell us about that.  What can you tell us?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I have told you everything that I can tell you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All I have heard you talk about is the trend line.  I want to know, about that point in time, what do you know?  Anything?

     MS. KLEIN:  You have put the trend line in front of me and you have asked me questions about the trend line.  As best as I can I have given you my views on what that trend line demonstrates, given the information that I have, which is with respect to, again, that in 2007 we started to ramp up the capital program.  Prior to that, we had not ramped it up at the levels that we have today or in the last few years or the levels that we're proposing in the next few years.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true, isn't it, that until 1999 Toronto Hydro and other LDCs used Ontario municipal accounting rules rather than CGAAP for for-profit companies?  Isn't that true? 

     MR. SEAL:  To the best of our knowledge, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is true that municipal accounting rules have very different approaches to recording capital?  Is that true?  

     MR. SEAL:  Now you have moved on to my level of expertise.  I'm not sure anyone on this panel can say that definitively, or not -- or even guess. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So you can't tell us whether the reason for your 28 percent difference is simply accounting?  You have no evidence to provide in this respect, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I don't believe anyone on the panel can speak to that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  I want to –- you've talked about this trend line on page 14, and we're going to come to what I believe is Dr. Kaufmann's corrections of this line.  But let's just deal with your own evidence. 

     This appears to show that, starting in 2007, you started spending at a much faster rate than your benchmark.  And you've said the reason for this is because you had to spend a lot of money on capital, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I have said that trend line is consistent with the ramp-up of our capital program. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We can in fact see that on the next page, on page 15, where Toronto Hydro's costs and the benchmark costs sort of stay roughly the same until 2007, right?  Then in 2008 they diverge and they continue to diverge over time, right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe these are percentage increases, but yes, there is a divergence of the two lines. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were able to keep your costs, in the period to 2007 at least, to increasing at roughly the same rate as the benchmark that is identical to you, but in the US.  You were able to keep it the same.  

And then since then, you have not been able to do that, have you?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, do you mind repeating your question?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Until 2007, your costs went up at a rate of increase roughly the same as the US. 

     But then starting in 2008, they have diverged and they have gone up at a much higher rate of increase than your US benchmark, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, I think that we see the lines diverging, and again we would say that that is because of the need for investment in the capital system. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the US companies didn't need to invest in their capital system, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I can't speak to what other 

companies do or do not do, or need.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it doesn't matter to you?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, we're here today to talk about our application and Toronto Hydro's capital needs.  As far as other companies and their particular needs, that is not something that this panel would have sufficient insight into the operations of those companies to speak to. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  We're actually not here to talk about your capital needs.  We're here to talk about your rates; isn't that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think, as we discussed earlier, a primary driver of our need for rates and revenue 

requirement are the underlying capital needs.  That is what has driven us to bring this custom IR application, and that is -- I think more than half of the prefiled evidence is dedicated to is discussing those capital needs, in particular detail, over the next five years, and the way in which they're a continuation of the applications we brought prior and the continuity with the ICM application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have been told consistently in 

stakeholder consultations and in proceedings with your -- with the intervenors at least -- I'm sure with your customers as well -- over at least ten years, that a key thing is to show why you need to spend more than everybody else; isn't that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  In terms of what we need to spend, I believe actually in our last rate Decision in the ICM proceeding, in the Decision at page 18, the Board's Decision says that the Board finds that aging infrastructure and the associated capital needs 

of the magnitude faced by THESL can be considered unusual in the broader context of Ontario utilities.  

     So yes, this is something that we have been discussing.  Yes, this has been a topic of discussion, and something that has been recognized by this Board.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying the Board has already 

determined that you need to spend a lot more on capital than any of the benchmarked utilities, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I am certainly not proposing to put words in the Board's mouth with respect to this particular application and their determinations in this context. 

     We were having a discussion about the past years and conversations, and what Toronto Hydro has brought forth and what other parties have been saying with respect to Toronto Hydro's capital program.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I'm trying to understand. 

Is there some particular reason that you know of why your 

capital needs are greater from 2007 onward than the benchmark your experts selected?  

Do you have any evidence to tell us why that is?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think that you're asking us to, again, go beyond the limits of what we can speak to on this panel, in terms of what's contained in a third-party report.  

     But all I can say is we are putting forward in this 

application information on what we need and why we need this, and why we need this for the benefit of our customers and the system, and that is what we can speak to you about. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How can the Board assess whether what you say you need is reasonable, if it can't compare you to anybody else and see whether they need similar amounts to what you're claiming?  

How can the Board make that reasonableness assessment?  

How are you proposing that the Board do that?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  I think the PSE report speaks to the 

reasonableness of the levels of investment that we've proposed as part of this application, cost reasonableness.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How does it do that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That is the benchmarking exercise.  It is us responding to the Board's request to provide evidence with respect to the reasonableness of our forecasted costs during the period.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so PSE has somewhere said:  Yes, this trajectory, this red line -- which for 12 years is materially worse than the benchmark they selected -- PSE's 

opinion is that's good, or that's reasonable?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I think if we turn to page 14 of your compendium, PSE was looking at assessing the reasonability of the total costs.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MS. KLEIN:  That's what's contained here. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only reason why this would be 

reasonable, page 14 would be reasonable, where you are 

significantly -- and I am using this in quotes -- "better" than the benchmark for many years and now you've become worse, the only reason that would be reasonable is if the spending now is catch-up, right?  Is there another reason why would that be reasonable?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I believe the reasonability 

analysis is based on the fact that this lands us within the plus or minus 10 percent criteria for the 0.3 stretch factor, which I believe is the third cohort.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree that if you were actually 28 percent more efficient than your US peer group in 2002, that the Board should not look favourably on you saying:  Oh, by the way, what we want to do is we want to become less efficient than them over time?  You will agree with that, right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  I apologize, Mr. Shepherd.  I think I lost the thread of your question.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There appear to me to be three reasons why this pattern would occur.

Number one, accounting differences at the outset, you have no information on that.

Number two, you are under-invested in 2002 and you are 

catching up.

And three, you were very efficient in 2002 and over the course of these 17 years you are becoming less and less efficient relative to your peers. 

     So there's only those three options, right?  I am asking the third option:  Would you agree the Board might not think that is a good idea for you to become less and less efficient?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  As for the reasons that drive the trend lines, this panel has spoken to them as much as we can. 

You have PSE's report on the record, where there is some discussion of these matters as well. 

     I personally can't add anything to PSE's evidence on this point, and I don't believe that I can add anything beyond what I have already said to you with respect to what I see this trend as indicative of over the last several years. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, is this an appropriate time for the morning break?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to suggest it. 

     MS. LONG:  Member Quesnelle has a question for you before we break.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, I just want to -- it is becoming clear to me that this area may be something that we want to avoid any confusion of when we get into argument. 

     You mentioned the three possibilities as to why the 

difference in the numbers back in 2002.  And you put it to this panel that, prior to 1999, that there would have been a use of municipal accounting.  Can you explain that a little bit further?  I am asking -- I know this panel has said that they can't speak to it, but I think there was an agreement that perhaps they were on municipal accounting.  And I just want to know, is that the evidence that is being provided?  

     And what I want to know is, when you say municipal accounting, are you saying that Toronto Hydro would have had the same accounting approach as the city of Toronto, for instance?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think it may be worth an undertaking to get a determination as to whether or not that is a fact, because I think that that is something if you're going to use it in argument, I think it would be good to have the facts on the table. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The question is whether, in 1989 when the capital build-up started, whether that was true, and I believe it was.  The reason I raise it is because I have been dealing with Kitchener, and Kitchener has their gas utility. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And they're the only one that is owned by the municipality, and they in fact use entirely a different -- until 2009 entirely different accounting with no physical assets. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  No, understood.  That is the municipal approach. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I just would like to have it on the record as to whether or not Toronto Hydro would be akin to the gas company in Kitchener or -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  In 1989.  That would be very useful. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, here's the complication I have with just giving the flat-out undertaking.  This wouldn't be an exercise, as I understand it, for Toronto Hydro. 

     There was a -- here's the problem that we have.  There's a report that is filed initially by PSE back in September.  There is a whole series of interrogatories asked in relation to that.  There is a technical conference asked in relation to the evidence.  There are lots of answers given.  This issue never comes up.  Not asked by Mr. Shepherd at all.  He wasn't at the technical conference, although he provided, as I recall it, certain questions in writing.


There is a report from PEG which speaks for itself, but PEG certainly took the opportunity, where it felt like there was an area of disagreement -- I don't think Dr. Kaufmann was holding back in any way. 

     There is nothing about this, and there is, frankly, no interrogatories asked of Dr. Kaufmann that addressed this issue. 

     My friend raises this for the very first time in cross-examination with Mr. Fenrick.  Mr. Fenrick provides whatever evidence Mr. Fenrick provides. 

     And it seems to me that now what's happening is Mr. Shepherd -- who had every opportunity to file whatever evidence he wanted to file -- is trying to get at it through either the spectre in cross-examination or a request for an undertaking, and I don't think that is particularly fair.

And I also think it would have to be an exercise, if it is at all possible, that would be done by PSE.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Smith, perhaps I didn't phrase it properly.  I think the fact that I would be -- benefit from having on the record as to what form of accounting did Toronto Hydro utilize prior to the incorporation -- Mr. Shepherd has mentioned '89, and that's when the -- there was a point in time there that there may have been a difference in spending.  But I think the delineation in my mind is pre- and post-commercialization of the sector, the electricity sector, and what function or what type of accounting was used by Toronto Hydro prior to its commercialization. 

     That is a point in time where there would have been a structural difference in the company, and therefore that would be of interest to me, rather than have it surmised in argument as to what a possible answer could be.  And we don't have whether or not -- the fact of the accounting practice that was used in Toronto Hydro on the record anywhere.  

     MR. SMITH:  I have no problem with the factual question, Member Quesnelle, as it relates to the accounting treatment.  The concern I have is the hypothesis that Mr. Shepherd wants to advance beyond that is not being tested. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I would hope that the hypothesis could be put in a factual context as to whether or not the accounting was municipal or not.  That is the only thing I am looking for, Mr. Smith.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, two comments.  

     First, while I understand that 1999 is an important time, the experts used 1989 as their capital basis to use the triangulated -- whatever that thing is, to get the capital.  So I think that is the point at which they used raw data to start to build.  So that may be an important point.  That is number one. 

     Number two, my friend is complaining that I didn't raise this earlier in the two-day technical conference, for example, which had to be cut off. 

     The problem with his argument is his expert has said from the outset that there is a huge difference starting in 2002 between the benchmark and Toronto Hydro. 

     It's their case to make.  I'm asking them:  What's your evidence as to the difference?  If they're going to rely on the difference as part of their argument, tell us what it was about.  It is their responsibility to do that.  It's not my responsibility to file that evidence.  It is theirs.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  My request is -- I thought I would benefit from knowing whether or not Toronto Hydro used municipal accounting prior -- in the period prior to the start of the benchmark, in any period prior to the benchmark.  

     MR. SMITH:  I think we can do that.  I don't think that there is any concern about that.  The concern I have is where that goes from there, because that, I think, is the point that my friend was trying to get at, that you can take that factual answer and derive some conclusion about the difference between the blue line and the red line. 

     And that is -- that is the thrust of the issue.  I mean, whether this has any relevance or not, obviously we'll have to deal with it in argument.  I mean, PSE simply took PEG's model.  So the experts at least were all on the same page as it relates to this.  Nobody seems to have raised it as an issue. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Once you're in argument, Mr. Smith, I think that the relevance may be tested, but at least it would be on the facts as we know them at that point.  And I don't think we have that at this point, and I think it is an important one. 

     MR. SMITH:  I am happy to provide it.  I just don't think it's going to explain the difference between the red and the blue line, but we will provide the request with respect to what the accounting treatment was. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry to go on on this, Madam Chair, but I do want to point out that I am not arguing that the reason is municipal accounting, because there is no evidence on that, and even with this undertaking there will be no evidence on that. 

     All we will know is that is one possible reason, and that is all I'm arguing.

     MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Smith, will you provide the undertaking?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  Can we mark that, please? 

     MR. LANNI:  We will mark that as Undertaking J9.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  TO ADVISE WHETHER OR NOT TORONTO HYDRO USED MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING IN ANY PERIOD PRIOR TO THE BENCHMARK.  


MS. LONG:  With that, we will take our morning break and be back at 11:25 --

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just one final thing.  It may be appropriate, so we don't lose track of it. 

I had indicated we would take a look at the figures in Mr. Shepherd's compendium, and I think we should probably give that an undertaking so we don't lose track of it. 

     MS. LONG:  Let's mark that as well. 

     MR. LANNI:  That will be Undertaking J9.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  TO REVIEW THE FIGURES IN SEC'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Lanni.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.  

 
--- Upon resuming at 11:28 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Shepherd, just to let you know, the Panel has a commitment at 12:30, so we will be breaking at that point. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


We were able, at the break, to correct page 13 of my materials.  

     MS. LONG:  Very good. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask Mr. Ruch to confirm these numbers.  

     You have page 13 there?  

     MR. RUCH:  I do, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The columns "Five-year moving average"  are still wrong?  So they can just go? 

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the 12-year compound annual growth rate for the benchmark, which is 3, has changed to 2.72 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The 17-year, which is 4.18, is changed to 3.42 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The 12-year for Toronto Hydro, which is 5.90, is changed to 4.77 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 17-year for Toronto Hydro, which is 8.21, is changed to 5.57 percent?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And those numbers are all -- this table is now correct, subject to the caveat about the inputs.  Well, I guess, no, there is no caveat about the inputs, because this is PSE, so this table is now correct. 

     MR. RUCH:  Aside from the five-year moving average increase. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is gone.  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     Witnesses, it's correct that according to Mr. Fenrick the US benchmark costs go up about 28.2 percent from 2014 to 2019, but your costs go up by about 43.7 percent; is that right?  

     MR. RUCH:  Could you direct me to the cells that you are referring to?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Those numbers are not on here.  This is just the increase from 8.16 to 10.46 in the benchmark, and the increase from 7.80 to 11.21 in your numbers.  

     MR. RUCH:  What's the value you are asking me to confirm? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  28.19 for the benchmark and 43.68, I think, for the -- for Toronto Hydro.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. RUCH:  Subject to check, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it fair to conclude from this evidence from your expert that at least for the period from 2007 -- and I understand that prior to then there is some issues, but at least for the period from 2007 Toronto Hydro has been less productive than its US peers?  Is that true?  

     MR. RUCH:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then help me understand how -- if your costs are going up at a higher rate than the benchmark, why does that not mean you are less productive? 

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think this may go back to an exchange that you and I had earlier, that as we observed this from -- the increases from 2007 onwards are consistent with the ramp-up of our capital investment program. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're familiar with the concept of productivity, right?  Productivity means overall costs, right?

So if your costs are changing at a more rapid rate than the benchmark, then you are less productive; isn't that right?  You might have good reason for it, but you are still less productive; isn't that true?  

     MR. RUCH:  You mis -- sorry, mischaracterized productivity.  Productivity is outputs over inputs.  It's not just costs.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, can I just ask you to clarify?  You said that if productivity means overall costs, your costs are changing at a more rapid rate than the benchmark and less productive.  But are you saying that productivity is a factor of the rate of change?  Or is productivity a comparison?  I mean, take an extreme example. 

If you were -- one person was spending $100 and the other was spending $200 and the next year it was 150 versus still 200, the rate of change would be higher for one to the other, but the number would still be lower. 

     So I just want to make sure I understand which one you're -- what you mean when you say "productivity."  Is it the rate of change?  Or is it the actual comparison, individual year? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think as Mr. Ruch pointed out, correctly I think, the rate of change of outputs and inputs is what is productivity analysis; isn't that right?  

     MR. RUCH:  The definition of "productivity" is in PEG's November 2013 report.  That's how they have defined "productivity" for the purpose of setting the productivity factor, which we have adopted.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is rate of change, isn't it?  

     MR. RUCH:  I haven't had a chance to check it, but that information would be contained in that report. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could go to page 16 of our compendium. 

     Now, we asked PEG to provide a table similar to your -- to Mr. Fenrick's table 2.  He provided it, and we've given you the undertaking but of course not the table, because we missed it. 

     However, the data from that table is in -- on page 17; is that right?  That the column "Total cost econometric benchmark" and the column "Total cost THESL," those are the data from Mr. -- from Dr. Kaufmann, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, that's our understanding, subject to check.  I believe this is the table that we went through this morning with some corrections.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  But there was no corrections to Dr. Kaufmann's numbers.  You have some question about whether his numbers are right, because you haven't talked to Mr. Fenrick.  But these are his numbers, right?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


And I wonder if you could go to page 18.  Now, page 18 is the cost comparison, right?  It is benchmark costs to Toronto Hydro costs.  This is equivalent to page 14, isn't it?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so Dr. Kaufmann disagrees with your expert, in that your expert says that you don't get offside to the benchmark until 2015, but Dr. Kaufmann says:  No, actually, the last time you're lower than the benchmark is 2009.  Right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think, subject to check, we would agree that this is PEG's analysis.  I don't think that we would characterize it as "offside the benchmark" as you have, but we would agree that this tracks PEG's analysis, subject to check.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am asking that is because I take it you will agree that if PEG is right, then a reasonable conclusion to draw from this is that the cost increases -- the cost amounts you're asking for are too much.  Is that a reasonable conclusion you can draw from this?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think that there are -- again, there have been other witnesses to speak to this.  It would be our perspective that the analysis that PSE has put forward is the preferred, correct analysis on this. 

     With respect to the conclusions that come from that, I think this is a matter that Mr. Fenrick and Mr. Kaufmann both discussed in earlier panels in this proceeding.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me put this to you a different way, then.  Let's hypothesize that you had Dr. Kaufmann's analysis in February 2014.  You had this table 19.  You had that -- or table 18.  Sorry, table 18.  You had that.  February 2014.  

     Am I right to conclude that, assuming this was correct, that your budget request would be lower, would have to be lower, because otherwise they would be unreasonable?  Isn't that a fair conclusion?  


MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't think that we are prepared to agree with you that the requests contained within this application are unreasonable.  

     Quite the opposite; we believe that they are reasonable based on the balancing of needs of the system and impacts on customers. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So even if Dr. Kaufmann is right, you still want the same amount of money?  Even if he is right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Implicit in your question is an assumption that we're not prepared to agree with.  

We believe that the PSE analysis that we have put forward is the appropriate analysis, and the PEG analysis disagrees with that.  I think that is on the record.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you can turn to page 19, briefly, the only reason I want to raise page 19 is -- page 19 and page 15 are essentially the same analysis.  It is just the PEG numbers, the first set of PEG numbers versus the PSE numbers, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And they show the same pattern.  The absolute numbers are different, but the pattern is almost identical, isn't it?  

Your rate of increase -- no matter which expert you listen to, your rate of increase starting in the 2008 is significantly higher than the benchmark, right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, in both cases the red line is above the blue line. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  I wonder if you could turn now to page 20 of our materials. 

     Now, you will recall that we asked Mr. Fenrick why is your US benchmark increasing more rapidly from 2015-2019 compared to the prior 12 years. 

     And he said:  Well, I'm not sure.  I think it might be 

interest rates.

But we asked him for an undertaking:  Could you go find out the answer?  And here is his response.  That is J3.1; do you see that? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, this is his response. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at page 21, he says the reason why the benchmark growth rate is double for the period, the custom IR period, is the capital price, right?  That's 2 percent; it's almost all of the change, right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I mean -– again, sorry, this is not the evidence of this panel.  We haven't -- this is not related to evidence that we're putting forward. 

     I believe that Mr. Fenrick specifically -- you had a 

conversation on this.  We do see the undertaking response, but we don't have anything further to add to Mr. Fenrick's evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come to something that is very specific to you. 

     He says on page 20:  

"The capital input price was influenced by declining interest rates during the historic time period, which is not forecasted to continue into the custom IR years." 

     Right?  



MS. KLEIN:  I see that at lines 19 to 21. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, we asked the same question of Dr. 

Kaufmann, and Dr. Kaufmann got the correct answer.  And Dr. 

Kaufmann looked at -- if you see starting on page 22, he actually disaggregated the capital component. 

     And here's what he found on page 24, and you will see that he says that the reason why Mr. Fenrick's model shows such wonky results is because he's assumed that capital input prices will increase by 4.55 percent per year from 2015 to 2019. 

     So my question to you is:  Is it Toronto Hydro's expectation that capital input prices will increase by 4.55 percent per year during the custom IR period?  Is that what you have based your forecasts on?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, we are not intimately familiar with this undertaking response, and I don't believe we can comment on the relationship between this and what is in our capital evidence. 

     Our forecasts for the five years are based on what we believe the system needs, and a balancing of those system needs and risks against customer impacts.  

Those proposals are detailed in numerous pages of evidence throughout this application, and we 

have had panels throughout this proceeding who have spoken to it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a straightforward question.  

     What is the inflation rate that you assumed in your capital input prices over the custom IR period?  You had to assume an inflation rate, right?  What was it?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. SEAL:  Within the capital cost evidence, I believe we used an inflation value of 2.07 percent to inflate our capital costs. 

     Whether that's a comparable number to the kind of value that's in this particular undertaking response, I don't know, because nobody on this panel has the expertise in the particular area of what Dr. Kaufmann has produced.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you familiar with the electric utility construction price index?  Do you know what it is?  

MR. SEAL:  Only very generally. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is an inflation rate for construction prices for electric utilities, right?  A US number?  

     MR. SEAL:  Again, only very generally. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And Dr. Kaufmann says at page 25 that over the period 2003 to 2013, it increased at a rate of 2 percent per year.  Do you agree that sounds about right?  

     MR. SEAL:  I couldn't comment on that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, this is amongst the very issues that I am concerned about, because Dr. Kaufmann -- you will have heard Mr. Fenrick's evidence relating to the declining interest rates at the time he was asked this question by Mr. Shepherd about the declining interest rate environment. 

     What Mr. Fenrick –- sorry, what Dr. Kaufmann appears to have used here is that ten-year period for 2003 to 2013.  

It's an open question whether or not that is right.  These witnesses don't know, and I don't know the answer.  But I do know enough to know that is exactly the sort of thing that I would want to be asking Mr. Fenrick, because this obviously underpins the numbers that are now in 3.4 that my friend is relying upon. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, actually they don't.  3.4 uses Mr. Fenrick's assumptions; 3.7 correct that error. 

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, 3.7 -- my mistake -- which also underpins --

     MS. LONG:  I guess I'm struggling a bit here, Mr. Shepherd.  I don't know that Ms. Klein is the best person to be able to comment on undertaking responses given by Dr. Kaufmann. 

     I think, to the extent you are asking her questions about inputs that they used with respect to inflation, I think that is fair and that's something that this panel probably does have the information.  

But to ask her questions about this recent 

undertaking of Dr. Kaufmann, I don't think she is going to be able to answer them. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's my problem, Madam Chair.  Mr. Fenrick made an error in his model, and Dr. Kaufmann caught the error. 

     I am happy to cross-examine Mr. Fenrick on it.  But my 

guess is that the Board would rather not come back another day to have more econometricians being cross-examined. 

     But I don't know how else to get to the result; there is an error.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I am not prepared to accept that there is an error.  All I am prepared to do is to say that we have an undertaking to look at this. 

     I don't know Mr. Fenrick's view of this.  I just know that it arrived, and he has been travelling and I have not been able to discuss it with him.

And these witnesses can't interpret Dr. Kaufmann's answer to the undertaking. 

     So I'm not prepared to accept any characterization, other than we've already said we will look at it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy to accept an undertaking that the company will look at the response to J3.7 -- 3.6, I guess, is the key one -- and determine whether it is correct.  

And if it is correct, we will correct table 2 of Mr. Fenrick's evidence to fix the error.  And if it doesn't think it is an error, to explain why.  

     MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  Sorry, I thought I had captured that already in 9.2.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  9.2? 

     MS. LONG:  In the Undertaking 9.2 that --


MR. SMITH:  Undertaking J9.2.


MS. LONG:  -- we did before the break?  I thought that was covered, but -- Mr. Lanni?  

     MR. LANNI:  If we could read back the undertaking that you have marked down for J.9.2, maybe Mr. Shepherd can clarify what, in addition to that undertaking, he is seeking?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  3.1 and 3.6 are undertakings from two different experts that come to two different conclusions on a particular point that I asked in cross-examination.  I hadn't even referred to them yet prior to the break.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, that's not quite right.  He hadn't referred to the answer to the undertaking, but the chart that my friend has been putting to the witnesses is built upon J3.4 and J3.7.  Those are the cites. 

     I was simply observing earlier -- and perhaps it was too cryptic, but I was simply observing that the correctness of Dr. Kaufmann's numbers is something that we have not had an opportunity to look at and we would like the opportunity to look at. 

     This answer to undertaking speaks to 3.6 or 3.7.  So when I was saying that we would undertake to look at it, I was doing exactly what I thought my friend was just asking for.  That is simply what I was observing. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  If that undertaking includes the explanation for this difference, that would be great. 

     MS. LONG:  That's what I had understood it to be, Mr. Smith.  You're confirming that?  So we don't need another undertaking?  

     MR. SMITH:  100 percent. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then let's move on.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to go to, then, page 33 of our materials.  This is now Dr. Kaufmann's latest and final set of numbers.  And the spreadsheet is on page 32, and you will see that according to Dr. Kaufmann the Toronto Hydro costs over the full 17 years go up 151 percent, but the US benchmark goes up 57 percent.  Do you see that?  No, sorry.  No.  Sorry, 46 percent.  Do you see that?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes, you're referring to the 17-years line at the bottom of the page?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. RUCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if your costs, in fact, are going up at three times the rate of the benchmark -- and I understand that you may not agree that that is true, but if it's in fact true, then how does that reconcile with your request for more money?

You're asking for $1.2 billion over the next five years; this evidence appears to suggest that that is unreasonable.  I am inviting you to explain why it is still reasonable, even if this is true.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  So again, Mr. Shepherd, with respect to PEG's numbers, that's something that we would have to take subject to check. 

     But with respect to the reasonability of our requests, that is, in fact, this application and what we have endeavoured to demonstrate to the Board through the thousands of pages of evidence to justify the nature of the funding request, the revenue requirement that we seek through this application.  And then we have sought to provide additional data points through PSE's benchmarking study, as well as a number of other third-party reports to the Board and through the evidence that you have heard from the witnesses over the last nine days.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree with me that the reasonableness of your request -- from a top-down point of view -- recall bottom-up, top-down, the Board requires both, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, I didn't hear the last part of your sentence there. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The RRFE requires both.  It requires a bottom-up analysis and it requires a top-down analysis; isn't that right?  I think we agreed on that.  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think we have maybe different terminology for top-down and bottom-up.  Maybe you could just help me understand what you mean when you say the RRFE requires a bottom-up and a top-down. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you rephrase it the way you think is correct?

     MS. KLEIN:  Well, I'm not actually sure what you mean, so maybe you could tell me what you mean and then I can try to answer that question for you. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We spent some time going through this. 

I understood you to be saying that the RRFE requires you to provide evidence that a top-down analysis shows your costs to be reasonable.  Is that not what your evidence is? 

     MS. KLEIN:  I see.  By "top-down" you're referring to what we would call the external third-party benchmarking evidence with respect to the reasonableness of our cost forecasts?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. KLEIN:  We have provided that in response to the Board's guidance in the RRFE and elsewhere. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That is a requirement of the RRFE, that you show reasonableness through that kind of benchmarking, right? 

     MS. KLEIN:  It is the guidance contained within the RRFE, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board concludes that the correct top-down or benchmarking analysis is in fact Dr. Kaufmann's, which shows you 39 percent higher than the benchmark, is it reasonable to conclude, therefore, that the amount of money that you should get from the ratepayers should go down?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, I think you're asking me to take as an assumption that the PEG analysis is the appropriate analysis here.  Our view is that the PSE analysis is the appropriate analysis.


But quite apart from that, the justification for the funding that we have requested is contained within the details of the application that the company has put forward.  I think we have about 46 or so capital business cases, and I can't remember how many OM&A, but I think it is 22 or so, with those detailed justifications for the revenue requirement that we're seeking over the five years on what we would say is a needs-based assessment for what we need to serve our customers over that period. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then even if the benchmarking evidence shows that your costs are too high, the Board should rely solely on your bottom-up analysis?  Is that right? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't agree that the benchmarking analysis shows the costs are too high.  What I'm saying is that in addition to the benchmarking analysis there is the company's own evidence with respect to the reasonableness of the request, as well as a number of other third-party reports on specific items throughout the application intended to provide the Board further data points with respect to the funding that we're seeking over the next five years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you to agree that -- if you go back to page 32, I am going to ask you to agree that under the PEG cost models the increase in your -- in the benchmark is 16.36 percent from 2014 to 2019.  Will you accept that, subject to check?  It is just 690 minus 593, divided by 593.  16.36 percent.  

     MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry.  Just the time frame, Mr. Shepherd?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  2014 to 2019.  So the custom IR period, the benchmark goes up in the custom IR period by 16.36 percent, according to Dr. Kaufmann.  Do you agree with that?

MR. RUCH:  Subject to check.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you agree that the Toronto Hydro costs in the same period go up 47.02 percent, from 738 to 1,085 in that period?

     MR. RUCH:  Subject to check, but I will note that this uses a different cost definition than the costs that we have put forward in our application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, because it is supposed to be apples-to-apples, right? 

     MR. RUCH:  I think the benchmark to the costs for the purposes of benchmarking, what we have put forward is a different -- there's a difference in the cost definition between our application and the benchmarking exercises. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true.  But that difference doesn't go to rate of change, does it?  It goes only to the absolute amounts?  

     MR. RUCH:  I don't know if that's true.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could go to page 38 of our material.  And I understand that you think these numbers are wrong; is that right?  Because we used your response to Energy Probe technical conference question 49 for the top-line numbers?  And do I understand you to say that those numbers are not correct anymore?  

     MR. SEAL:  For the purposes of the schedule you have provided us with and the comparison that you are making on a year-over-year basis, what we've indicated is that the values from the Energy Probe interrogatory need to be adjusted to put it on the same basis as 2015 to 2016. 

     So the 2014 number needs to be adjusted, because the number that we provided in that interrogatory response is missing some key components that would be part of a revenue requirement-type number. 

     As we indicated in that interrogatory response, the 

2012-2014 period was an IRM period.  So we don't -- we didn't have a revenue requirement. 

     So the values that we provided for the revenue were done, as we indicated in the response, on an as-filed revenue perspective. 

     And those do not include the primary components of -–did not include the ICM revenues, or the smart meter revenues. 

     So what we've done is we've suggested -- to put it on a comparable basis with your 2015-2019 numbers in this table, you would really need to adjust that 2014 value to reflect those. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that number would now be 596-point-something?  

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.  Our high-level estimate as to the 

amount related to ICM and smart meters is around $24 million. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So 596.2 is the correct number for 2014, right?

     MR. SEAL:  Again, on a high-level basis, because we did not have a revenue requirement for 2014. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you did have what your costs were, right?  

     MR. SEAL:  But we did not have a revenue requirement in that year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this says gross costs.  So you did have what your costs are for 2014, right?  You know that number?  

     MR. SEAL:  We would.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's 596.2. 

     MR. SEAL:  Well, as I say, I estimate.  That is my estimate. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would then be on the same basis as the rest of this, right?  

     MR. SEAL:  As I explained, that's why we did that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you've now redone this page 38 with that correction. 

     Do you have copies of that?  

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could distribute them, because then we can talk about numbers we agree to.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Do you mean do we have additional 

copies?  That, I don't know.  

No, I don't think we do.  But we could get them printed out.  

     MR. SEAL:  We did e-mail out that information earlier today. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes.  I would like the Board Panel to have it, if I am going to ask questions about it. 

     MR. SMITH:  We can ask for copies to be made. 

     MS. LONG:  Do you have a copy that we could make copies from, one without any notes on it?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We can do it after lunch. 

     MS. LONG:  Can you move this to after?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I can get to this after lunch. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. Davies, maybe you could coordinate getting some copies for us during the lunch break.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come back to that, but I want to turn to another area.  

     And to do that, I want to talk about -- I want to go to page 9 of our materials.  

     Do you have that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the heading there is:

"The proposed capital program ultimately delivers long-term value for customers."

     And I take that -- if I understand the point of this 

discussion, it is -- you have a concept called steady state, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And steady state is the point at which you are no longer catching up on backlog; you're at the right level of capital spending to maintain your system without blips, an even keel; fair?  

     MS. KLEIN:  If what you're saying, Mr. Shepherd, is that steady state is the time at which the number of assets that are past their economic end-of-life is minimized, then yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent, excellent. 

     And so right now you're proposing capital spending in the order of half a billion dollars a year out into the future -- and these are actually not questions about capital spending; they're actually about rate impacts. 

     And that $500 million a year is expected to go out well into the future and to increase at the rate of inflation, roughly, if you think about it from a long-term point of view; is that fair?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe that panel 1 spoke about this in some detail.  

In general terms, the expectation is that the system requires a level of investment at approximately the levels that we're forecasting for the next five years into the future. 

     The specifics, of course, will be determined as those future events unfold, and there's a number of factors that drive the particular levels of investments, types of investments, and rate impacts associated with that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  So then if you turn to page 11 of our materials, you will see that you have said that the system is forecast to reach a steady state by 2037, 23 years from now; is that right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That is what it says at the top of page 17. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So have you modelled the total amount of capital spending, and the rate base, and the revenue requirement for those years under that scenario, that you get to steady state in 2037?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Not that we're aware of. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you get the 2037 number, then, if you didn't do a model?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think you're asking a question that is more appropriate for panel 1, with respect to engineering analysis that has gone into this determination of steady state and the pacing of the investments. 

     In terms of this application, we certainly tried to find a pace that balanced the system needs and rate impacts.  And as you have just pointed out, that pace is not fast.  It will take us decades to get to system steady state, and our judgment in this case is that anything less than this pace creates unacceptable risks to the system.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you say that one of the advantages of that approach is "more predictable and tolerable rate increases." 

     So is that going to continue for -- until 2037, or is that only in the next five years? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, is what going to continue?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The "predictable and tolerable bill increases."  

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe that line 4 of the reference that you have just taken me to completes that statement, which is that:

"The paced approach that we have provided and proposed in this application has the advantage of more predictable and tolerable bill increases during the 2015-2019 period." 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That is exactly what I asked. 

     And so after that, is that going to continue or not, predictable and tolerable?  Do we expect similar increases for the rest of that period until 2037?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, we haven't done an analysis of rate impacts past the 2019 period. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then how can you say that your program delivers long-term value, if you don't know what the rate impacts are?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Generally -- and again as the engineers have discussed -- we assess that anything less than this pace of investment creates unacceptable risks to the system, and that the costs of delay are higher than the costs of investment now.  

That is, in part, because of the size of the 

backlog would be increasing, and a greater portion of any budget would be effectively absorbed by reactive work.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So rates would be higher in 2037 if you 

didn't do this, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We do believe that it is more expensive in the long term to ratepayers to invest at levels lower than what we have proposed for this period.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you've modelled that to tell us what that difference is, right?  You have a model that says:  Here's how much more it would cost if we didn't spend at this rate; do you have that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I believe that I already answered this question.  We have not modelled specific rate impacts.  We assess this on the basis of information, analysis, with respect to system needs, the engineers' detailed analysis with respect to a number of these portfolios, and what different investment plans look like in terms of the long-term costs of maintaining the system. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you did a long-term analysis that shows what happens if you invest $300 million a year instead of 500 million, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, that's not what I said.  That's what you said.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm asking.  

     MS. KLEIN:  And I think I have said that we have not gone into -- let me step back again. 

     We have assessed that what we have put forward is a synthesis of data and judgment to balance the costs and the risk, and that where we would be investing at levels lower than what has been proposed in this application, that we would be looking at levels of risk that are unacceptable. 

     We have assets that are past their end of useful life. 

We have those assets that, when they fail, they tend to fail catastrophically.  I think we had an example of this just yesterday, where we had a -- I believe it was a porcelain insulator on a pole in Scarborough that -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How is this responsive -- 

     MS. KLEIN:  -- that ended up catching on fire, that had a catastrophic impact.  We had thousands of customers that were without power, and that required us to replace that on a reactive basis.

That is the very work that we have contemplated within this application on a prospective basis. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that never happens in any of the other utilities in Ontario or your benchmarks?  It never happens, because they don't -- they're already okay?  It happens there too, right?

So the fact that you had a porcelain insulator blow out, how is that helping the Board here?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I talked to you about how we came up with this investment plan and some of the analysis and judgment and data that went into that.  And I spoke to you about how we're balancing here risks to the system and customer impacts, and that includes consideration of dealing with the backlog, that includes consideration of how soon and the pace of replacing these assets, and also of course includes consideration of rate impacts.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you model the long-term impact of a lower capital spend?  Because the evidence I have heard so far is that the lowest you modelled was in fact the one you proposed; is that not right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think that you see the detailed modelling of what we have done in the evidence before you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That's not what I'm asking.

I'm asking -- you've said this is the -- this is better for the customers to spend at this level rather than less. 

     I am asking:  Where is your evidence?  Do you have evidence that spending less would cost more?  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, now we're bouncing around between a number of different concepts.  If my friend had questions about the -- this schedule that my friend is asking about is clearly identified for the capital panel.  And if my friend's question was how did you arrive at this DSP, if that's his question then I would have thought it went to Mr. Walker. 

     Mr. Jamal gave evidence -- we went over this many times with Mr. Jamal about who developed the capital plan and how that fit into this application.  I don't think we need to rehash that.  I don't think it is helpful to members of the Board. 

     MS. LONG:  Are you asking, Mr. Shepherd, about rate impacts?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking about rate impacts.  I couldn't ask about rate impacts on the other panels.  Whenever I did I was told no. 

     MR. SMITH:  No, but if my friend's question was did you model out rate impacts out to 2037, if that is his question, he asked that question, and Ms. Klein said no to that.  So that is why I think the witnesses may be missing each other. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and what I'm trying to understand is what is the basis -- what is the evidentiary basis that the company is putting forward for the statement that rates would be higher if the capital spend was less?  

     MS. KLEIN:  And I think, Mr. Shepherd, I have provided you answers on that.  And of course I am not an engineer, so we are quickly reaching the limits of my specific knowledge. 

     But I wonder if we might turn up the residential customer engagement workbook at page 33. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?  

     MS. KLEIN:  And here at page 33 -- I will just wait for it to come up on the screen.  You asked me about modelling and different approaches to considering rate impacts.

And so here, this is the conversation that we had with the customers through the focus group interactions with respect to pacing and approaches to dealing with the backlog of the assets.  And we did also speak to the customers on the basis of a run-to-failure approach as part of that modelling.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that responsive to the question?  

     MS. KLEIN:  You asked about rate impact modelling, Mr. 

Shepherd.  You asked whether there was any analysis done with respect to anything other than the plan that we have put forward in this application.

And I am taking you now to the customer engagement workbook, which discusses a different approach, which would be the run-to-failure approach. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the capital spend in that approach?

See, you haven't filed this model, right?  You say here's some numbers here, but there's no model filed, is there?  

     MS. KLEIN:  There is an analysis here.  The results --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see any calculations.  Do you see calculations?  I see results.  

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe that that's based on approximately -- and I would have to take this subject to check -- actually, I think we would have to check into those numbers.  I don't think I am able to speak to anything here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the only evidence you have is that, in fact, rates would be lower if you spent less, right?  If you spent less on capital, rates would be lower?

But I thought you were saying that in the long term rates will be higher if you spent less on capital; am I misunderstanding?

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe that panel 1 spoke to this extensively, that the views that we have from our engineers is that the overall bill impacts and the overall system costs would be larger over time if we invest less today and over the term of the plan, and that reliability will likely worsen as well. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am asking you:  Do you have any empirical evidence to back up those general statements?  And I didn't see any in the evidence.  That's why I'm asking. 

     MS. KLEIN:  The empirical evidence would be contained within the written evidence and the oral evidence of the engineers who have spoken to those matters already in this proceeding. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So their judgment is all things will be worse if we don't spend this money, but there's no math here.  We have no -- no calculation that shows here's what's going to happen if you spend less, here's why this is better for the ratepayers.  Do we?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, you mean -- you're asking me right now, I think, to give evidence on evidence that's already been provided by the engineers.  And the engineers have testified to the number of qualitative and quantitative tools that they use in their analysis of system needs and optimal investment times and the longer-term, higher-cost impact of failing to invest now and over time, as well as the impact to customers in the form of reliability.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you say this is the wrong panel, fine.  I don't think it is, but I think this is the panel that is supposed to be talking about the rate implications, but... 

Why don't you undertake, then, to provide us with a reference in the evidence to where it demonstrates that over the long term -- demonstrates empirically that over the long term, rates will be lower because you are spending 500 versus some lower number.  And if there is no reference, just say so.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I am happy to take the undertaking, but I think the undertaking is going to be pointing back to the capital panel and the evidence that's already been given.  But if my friend thinks that is useful, then that's fine. 

     If my friend is -- if his specific question is:  Is there a model that you haven't filed that is in connection with this statement, then we can confirm, and will by way of undertaking, that the answer to that question is no.  If that is -- if that's the only point of all of this.

But of course we have lots of other evidence about what the capital needs are, and you will have heard from the capital panel, and that's why the witnesses appear to be missing Mr. Shepherd. 

     But I've got his question; we will do that by way of 

undertaking, sure.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the thing I am trying to get is any model that shows what happens to rates if the capital spend is less than what is proposed.  

     MS. LONG:  Oh, I understand what you're trying to get.  But I think Ms. Klein has said that there is no model.  So there may be -- you know, you're looking for a specific model, as I understand it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's right, because as Ms. Klein pointed out -- and she sort of anticipated what I was going to ask -- on page 33 of the workbook, they have numbers:  Here's how much your rates would go up in the next five years, if we spend less: $6.18 a month. 

     There must be a model somewhere.  I mean, Mr. Smith can say there isn't one, but you see the result. 

     MR. SMITH:  But this is a -- this is a different question than what my friend just asked about, which was out to 2037. 

     If my friend's new question is:  Tell us what the 

numbers were that underpinned the workbook, we can do that by way of undertaking as well.  I just want to make sure we're not mixing apples and oranges.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, some modelling has been done, we know, at least for five years, because it is in the workbook.  

Whether it was back of the envelope or whether it was detailed, I don't know.  But something has been done.  We don't know whether it goes beyond that. 

     I am asking the question:  What have you got -- 

     MS. LONG:  But I want to be clear, because as I look at this workbook page, it is estimated increase in monthly bill and it deals with 2015-2019, full stop. 

     So if you're asking how those numbers were derived, that's one thing.  But if you're asking if there's a model that goes out to 2037 showing that spending less capital today will lead to more total spend later, I see those as two different things.  

So are you asking for both of those things?  Or you're asking for one or the other?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am actually asking for the range, because I don't know whether their $6.18 model goes out for five years, or goes out for ten and they've given five.  I don't know actually what they have.

I am asking the question:  Is there some model -- whether it is five years or it's 23 years or something in between -- is there some model that shows what the rate impact is of spending less?  

     If the only one they have is five years, great, then that's what they've got.  And I'm happy to take that by undertaking.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith? 

     MR. SMITH:  I think the discussion has been helpful because I do think they are separate concepts, and we can answer it all by way of one undertaking. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent. 

     MS. LONG:  Can we mark that, please?  

     MR. LANNI:  We will mark that as Undertaking J9.4 –- apologies, J.9.3. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THERE IS ANY MODEL SHOWING WHAT HAPPENS TO RATES IF CAPITAL SPENDING IS LESS THAN WHAT IS PROPOSED.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I have one brief set of questions that I can do in four minutes --

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Four minutes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if you're willing.  And that starts on page 7 of our materials.  

     This is on Z factors, and what I'm trying to understand is this, and maybe you could just clarify it. 

There's been a number of questions about this and I haven't really nailed it down.  So I am asking you to nail it down for me. 

     Are you proposing to adopt the Z factor criteria that are in the RRFE?  So that's my first question.  Is that what you're proposing?  Yes or no?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, could you please point me to a reference in the RRFE?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually don't have it to hand.  I'm asking what you're asking for, so --  

     MR. SMITH:  Are you asking for something different than what is articulated at line 16?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am getting to that. 

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The first question is:  Are you asking for something different from the RRFE?  Yes or no?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I mean -- without a reference, I'm not sure what you mean by the "RRFE." 

     I am looking at the report here, or at least the table of contents for the RRFE report.  I don't see anything about Z factors in it. 

     But I think what is detailed in our evidence -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me take the next question, which is:  Are you asking for the identical Z factor treatment to those articulated by the Board in B-2012-0459?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  That was the second half of my answer. 

     So at page 17 of Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 3, lines 16 to 18, and footnote 13 of that exhibit, we indicate that we expect that the criteria for Z factors that would apply to Toronto Hydro are consistent with the OEB standard Z factor criteria, which are most recently articulated in that Enbridge Gas Decision which you quoted, EB-2012-0459. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So no difference, right?  No difference from that, from those criteria?  

     MS. KLEIN:  That's what I said, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  So then tell me what 6.1 here talks about, because what you have said is:

"To the extent the OEB has concern with respect to the possible availability of Z factor treatment in relation to any of the items set out below, Toronto Hydro asks the OEB to identify these concerns as part of this application." 

     Then you go on to list a whole bunch of things that you say should be Z factors. 

     So is this now an additional Z factor component?  Are you asking the Board to approve this list?  

     MS. KLEIN:  If I could take you to IR BOMA 23, please, so in response (a), we confirm Z factor criteria would apply. 

     And in sub-part (b), exactly as you have taken me to, we explain that we set out two categories of potential events as examples of what we believe may necessitate Z factor treatment during the plan. 

     We, at this time, have no present intentions to bring a Z factor application, and that our interpretation is that the listed potential events would qualify for Z factor treatment under the articulated Z factor criteria, and that simply we have requested that to the extent the OEB has concerns about the possible availability of Z factor treatment for any of those listed items, that the Board 

would identify those concerns to us as part of its Decision. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your interrogatory response exactly copies the evidence, word for word.  That's not really helpful. 

     I asked a straightforward question.  Do you want this list approved, or not?  

     MS. KLEIN:  And Mr. Shepherd, I believe I have given you a straightforward answer.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Was that a yes or a no?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We're not requesting specific approval of this list. 

     However, our interpretation is that these -- the examples that we have provided would, where we met the criteria, tend to qualify for Z factor treatment. 

     We have done our best to think about a possible list, put that forward as part of the application, and sought some guidance from the Board with respect to the nature of those events qualifying for Z factor treatment.  

MS. LONG:  Ms. Klein, is your concern there, because these are custom rates, that you need further confirmation as to what would qualify as Z factor?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think that our thinking about this was that there are a number of items that we have listed where Z factor applications have not been brought previously, and that this is a five-year period for setting rates and there could be a number of events that may arise during the period that, when we look at the criteria and look at the nature of the events, they seem to us -- on a prima facie basis -- to be something that may qualify for Z factor, given that the utility can meet the other criteria and simply ask the Board for any views it may have on the nature of those events.

Of course, that would always be subject to us having to bring an application and meet the Z factor criteria. 

     MS. LONG:  I guess I am just wondering why in this case you would need that.  I mean, typically we don't pre-judge what Z factor events are.  There's a test, there's a three-pronged test that is applied.  And so I guess I'm wondering why you feel you need that as part of the Decision in this application.  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think that our perspective would simply be it would be helpful if the Board was in a position to provide us any guidance on this, given the nature of the RRFE being a new regulatory regime. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MS. KLEIN:  But we of course recognize that. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, did I take part of your four minutes, or are you finished that area?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  It appears I'm going to have to go through this in more detail, so I can do it after lunch. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  So we're going to take our break.  We will be back at 1:30.  And just to plan the rest of the afternoon, it looks like, Mr. Shepherd, you have 1.6 hours left -- sorry, I think like a lawyer.  Then we will take our break, and then Dr. Higgin, you're going to do your 15 minutes, and then Mr. Brett, you have an hour of cross-examination. 

     So that takes us to about 4:40, and then the Panel will have questions, so people should plan on staying 'til at least 5:00 o'clock this afternoon. 

     Okay.  Thank you.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m. 



--- Upon resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to continue?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     I just want to finish off on Z factors, and I wonder if you could turn to page 8 of our materials. 

     Do you have that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I just want to understand what you mean by some of these things. 

     If what you're saying is that, for example, if the 

government has a direction on conservation and demand management, let's say, then you should be able to come in and apply for Z factor treatment, assuming the impact on you is big enough, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Well, that's certainly one of the criteria for Board Z factor treatment.  What we're saying is that there may be events that fall within these categories.

If they do, and if Toronto Hydro meets the Z factor criteria and feels bringing a Z factor application is appropriate, then we would bring that forward.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just -- so, for example, the 

government says, you know:  We're going to double your CDM targets, and we think you should spend your own money on it.  And the Board looks at it and says:  Well, we don't think we should change anybody's revenue requirement for that.  We're happy to leave people with the rates they are -- managed within it. 

     Do you still think you should have Z factor treatment 

because it is on your list?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Whether or not we determine that a Z factor application is appropriate will depend on the circumstances of that particular event, at that particular point in time for Toronto Hydro. 

     So we would have to assess that on the basis of the facts as we knew them at that point.  I can't say prospectively what the utility would or would not do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Aren't you asking the Board to say 

prospectively what it would do?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No.  What we're asking for from the Board is guidance. 

     So there are on this list a number of circumstances or 

events that utilities at this point haven't brought forward a Z factor application for. 

     It's conceivable that at some point in the next five years, Toronto Hydro may find itself in one of these circumstances and somebody will come to me and come to my team and say:  This has happened; what do you think about bringing a Z factor application?  

And we have the Board's criteria, and we appreciate 

that of course is guidance.  But it would certainly be helpful to us if there was any further guidance that the Board could provide. 

     Of course, we're not asking the Board to pre-emptively 

approve Z factor applications or approve certain circumstances, but simply provide us some guidance, if the Board feels that's appropriate in the terms of the circumstances that may qualify for Z factor relief, where the utility also meets the criteria and is able to demonstrate that it meets those criteria through an application process.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I'm not sure I understand what you're asking the Board to do. 

     Let me give you another example.  You've got here OEB codes or policies such as distributor rate design. 

     So the Board is now considering all fixed charge for 

residential.  Let's say the Board does that. 

     Could you, then, come in and say:  This is going to cost us $3 million a year to go to all fixed charge?  And Board, we told you that that was one of the things that we thought qualified as a Z factor, so we think it should qualify because we told you and you didn't say no. 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, that's not what I said.  What I said is that we expect that in any given circumstance of a Z factor application, if we were to make a Z factor application, that that application would be reviewed and would be analyzed, and would be considered on its merits. 

     And what we have put in this list is a list of possible circumstances where something that we may assess we need Z factor relief for could arise. 

     Again, this is -- it's a five-year period.  We forecasted to the best of our abilities today.  Sitting here, we do not have any intent to bring a Z factor application.  But things may come up, events may arise, and it would certainly be helpful to us if we had some further guidance with respect to the types of events that would probably qualify for Z factor criteria. 

     On our reading of the criteria -- again, without asking the Board to predetermine any particular case -- the list of things that we have put here in our application seem to us to be things that may qualify for Z factor relief. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If I take what you're saying, you're saying that the -- that any future Z factor application would be assessed -- in your mind, would be assessed solely on the basis of the Z factor criteria, and not on the basis of this list.  

This list would not be relevant to that future case, would it, because you're not asking for approval of this list?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We're not asking for pre-approval of any 

particular Z factor application. 

     What we are seeking to confirm with the Board is that -- on our analysis of the types of events that may qualify for Z factor, we have listed those types of events. 

     And we've asked for the Board's comments and guidance on that, if the Board feels it is appropriate to provide that guidance.  

We're not seeking pre-approval of the application. 

We're not seeking to depart from the regular, standard Z factor criteria, or the standard approval process for Z factor applications. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if the Board says nothing about these, then as far as you're concerned, the Z factor criteria still apply as is, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  The Z factor criteria still apply as is, sitting here today.  We're not proposing to depart from the standard Z factor criteria. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's not available to you to say later:  Well, we asked you for guidance and you didn't tell us that technical standards don't qualify.  So therefore now you can't say they don't qualify.  

     You're not going to make that argument later, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We're not proposing to use this for the purposes of making any arguments on the basis of what the Board does not decide in this application. 

     I mean, again, I think it is set out in the evidence.  We've looked at this list, and we've looked at the Z factor criteria.   We've sat down together and brainstormed a list of possible events that may arise that we think qualify for Z factor criteria. 

     We've asked the Board to comment, if they feel it is 

appropriate, with respect to the possible availability of 

Z factor relief under those circumstances, again without any pre-approval of such applications. 

     And that is before the Board in our application.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me just look at the bottom paragraph of this, because this is also another thing in which you're making a specific proposal in the interests of regulatory efficiency, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, that's what it says at the bottom of the page. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is not -- you're making this 

proposal because you don't know whether this is the actual rule that the Board would otherwise follow, right?  

You're saying:  Please tell us what the rules are going to be now.  Right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think we have given our understanding of the rules. 

     The Board, I believe, has articulated, as part of the RRFE, that Z factor applications would be available to custom IR applicants. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what you're proposing is that the Board say now that if there is a one-time event, there will be a targeted rate rider.  And if there is an ongoing event, there will be an adjustment to base revenue requirement.  Right?  That's what you're proposing?

     MS. KLEIN:  We're not proposing -- sorry, the request that we have with respect to the Board is around the events that we've set out here. 

     And specifically we've said to the extent the Board has any concerns with respect to the possible availability of the Z factor treatment in relation to those items, that they let us know. 

     And then at the end of this section of the evidence, we've said that this is how we propose to approach these things, if they come up during the five years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so are you asking the Board to tell you:  Yes, this is right, that this is the right way to handle a one-time event, for example?  Or this is the right way to handle ongoing impact?  

Or are you asking -- or are you simply telling the Board:  When we file an application, it's going to look like this?

     MS. KLEIN:  We're letting the Board know -- again, sitting here today -- how we foresee that if these events happen to come up during the five years, how we as a utility would approach it.  We thought it might be helpful to the Board, to give the Board and parties an understanding of how we think of Z factors interacting with this custom IR application.  And that's what we have laid out here. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not asking the Board to make any decision about that? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think you have asked me that question a few times, and I think I have answered it. 

     All we've asked for from the Board is any comments that they may have with respect to the possible availability of the lists of events that we have set out in 6.1 and 6.2. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn back to page 38 of our materials.  You've now provided a revised page 38 of our materials; is that right?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, I gather Mr. Davies has distributed that now, Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could get an exhibit number for that?  

     MR. LANNI:  That would be Exhibit K9.2. 

EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  REVISED PAGE 38 OF SEC MATERIALS.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm correct, am I not, that the gross costs on the first line of this, that's what you're proposing as the amount that you would be spending from a revenue requirement point of view, actual in 2014 and forecast in 2015 through 2019?  Right?  

     MR. SEAL:  For 2015 to '19, that is correct.  For 2014, again, it was our adjustment to the value that we provided in Energy Probe 49 to reflect smart meter and ICM revenues. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is the 572.2, plus 24 million.  So it is not going to be far off, right?  

     MR. SEAL:  It's our estimate as to what the kind of revenue requirement would be in that year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so these increases that are calculated -- these are increases in your costs each year -- total 49.7 percent over five years, right?  Total spend?  

     MR. RUCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Now, go to the bottom section.  What we did is we took the final results from the PSE table 2 and we looked at what are the increases in the US benchmark each year and said:  Well, if you kept to those increases, what would your gross costs be?  And you will agree with us that these are the result of that calculation, right?  

     MR. RUCH:  That is the result of that calculation.  However, the percent change is derived from the cost definition for benchmarking purposes, and then you have applied it to our cost definition. 

     And so it is a bit of an apples-to-oranges comparison that you are doing there. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And why would the percent change be different in the benchmarking than in your actual costs?  

     MR. RUCH:  I'm not saying that it is.  I'm saying that I can't confirm that it is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you stayed at the same point relative to your US peers, these numbers would be what your revenue would be each year, right?  If you stayed lock-step with them?

     MR. RUCH:  Again, you're asking me to take it that the cost definitions have no impact, which I can't say, yes or no, they do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Subject to that caveat, it's true, isn't it, that what you're asking for is $522.6 million more than what your own expert says is the rate trajectory for the benchmark?  Right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  So I think subject to the caveats that my colleague Mr. Ruch has provided, 522.6 more.

And I take it what's been implicit in your questioning today and some of the exchanges that we've had is that what you're suggesting is that the Board should only look at the benchmarking with respect to total costs and, you know, ignore the evidence that justifies the work. 

     And we recognize that benchmarking is a data point, but it's just that.  It's not determinative of the overall funding that we're requesting.  The issue for us isn't in relation -- sort of what we need in relation to other utilities.  The issue is what Toronto Hydro needs, and the evidence that we have provided justifying the work that we intend to do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, the issue is just and reasonable rates, isn't it?  

     MS. KLEIN:  The Board's ultimate Decision is based on just and reasonable rates, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board has to decide what's reasonable, doesn't it?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  And what I'm saying is that benchmarking -- 

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Are we having a discussion about the components of what constitutes just and reasonable rates, because I don't think that that's a factual matter.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like the witness to finish answering the question.  

     MS. KLEIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I lost track of what your question was.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The issue is just and reasonable rates, and isn't it true that therefore the Board has to determine what is reasonable?  Is that right or not?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, the Board will determine what is just and reasonable rates.  And what I'm saying to you is that benchmarking is a data point, but benchmarking is just that.  It's a data point. 

     What is also relevant to this determination is the evidence that we have provided justifying the work that we intend to carry out and the need for that work and that it is not just benchmarking that determines the reasonableness. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree that your gross costs of 596.2 in the bridge year, if you maintain that spending level for five years, your total revenue requirement for the five years would be -- or your total spend, rather, for the five years would be 2,981,000,000?  It is just multiplying it by five.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. RUCH:  If you multiply that number by five, yes, that is correct, subject to check. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so -- and what you're actually asking the Board to approve is about $990 million more; that is, 3 billion 971, 990 million more?  

     MR. RUCH:  Those are the differences in costs, plus whatever the revenue offset numbers are through that same term would have to be netted against that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the revenue offsets are revenue offsets, aren't they?  So doesn't that mean that -- or are you saying that you get to spend more, plus you get whatever you get more in offsets, you get to spend that too?  

     MR. RUCH:  No, that's not what I'm suggesting at all.  I'm suggesting that that is part of the base revenue requirement calculation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The costs -- I'm talking costs now -- the costs you're proposing are up $990 million over the five years; isn't that right?  

     MR. SEAL:  I will point out to you, Mr. Shepherd, that the title of your table is "Revenue requirement comparison." 

So that is the basis of what we've put -- what we corrected the 2014 for, and what we understood you to be talking these about (sic).  So revenue requirement cost.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Was it revenue requirement or cost?  The 296.2, which is your number, is that cost?  

     MR. SEAL:  Again, the 596.2 is not our revenue requirement or cost.  It is my adjustment to the number that was provided in an interrogatory response. 

     For 2015 to 2019, revenue requirement is cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. SEAL:  But it is revenue requirement.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     And so now if you're asking for another $990 million, I take it your expert is saying that 523 million of that is represented by a decline in your performance relative to the benchmark.  Is that wrong?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, we wouldn't agree that it is a decline in performance relative to benchmark.  Our perspective is that Toronto Hydro has been an efficient utility.  We have evidence with respect to past productivity, productivity throughout the term of this application, and we have the external report with respect to cost reasonableness in the application.

So we wouldn't agree with your characterization. 

     We do acknowledge that there is us departing from the benchmark, and as I believe you and I discussed earlier, we see that trend line as being consistent with the ramp-up of the capital program to address the system needs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to -- I guess, you know, before you go to the materials, let me just ask you a couple of general questions about customer engagement, a subject near and dear to my heart.  And I am going to ask you just at a high level if I understand -- and these may be for you, Mr. Lyle, or they may be for Ms. Klein. 

     At a high level there were basically four components to the customer engagement.  You had an online workbook, which had a couple of hundred residential responses and a handful of commercial responses, and that was developed by Innovative and Toronto Hydro jointly; is that correct?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you had focus groups for residential and small general service, which was based in part on the workbooks. 

     And Innovative Research Group carried out that work but Toronto Hydro was actively involved, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  I wonder if we could turn to Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 7, because there is a handy list of the four aspects that --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we let me go through it, and then you can come back and say our evidence already says that, if you want. 

     MS. KLEIN:  Actually, I would rather pull up the reference exhibit, because that is what I will speak in reference to. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is going to take forever, then.  

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe we're right at the exhibit right now.  So it is page 9 of that exhibit. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.  Go ahead.  

     MS. KLEIN:  So, yes.  Pursuant to number 2 at line 22, we did have randomly recruited focus groups for our residential and GS under 50 customers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And my question was:  That was done by  

Innovative with Toronto Hydro actively involved, yes or no?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Toronto Hydro was not actively involved in the focus groups, beyond working with Innovative to 

develop the workbook that was delivered for those focus groups.  


So we did not participates in the focus groups. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You weren't physically there?  You were watching, but you weren't in the room?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We weren't watching. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, you weren't even watching?  Isn't one of the purposes of a focus group, Mr. Lyle, to have the customer, your customer, watch what people are saying about them so that they can understand better?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  They get a -- they get a report on what was done.  But what we wanted to give the participants confidence in was that everything that they said would be between us and them, and that they would be completely anonymous to the client. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay. 

     MR. LYLE:  So it was positioned as essentially an opinion audit.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the third item was that you did an online survey of 1,005 residential customers and 200 general services customers, which was a statistically valid sample, right, Mr. Lyle?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, the third element was actually the 

mid-market general service workshops.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I just asked about residential and small general service customers based on the workshops.  

     MR. LYLE:  Right, that is the fourth element.  So that is -- before we did the survey, we did the mid-market workshops because we used all of the qualitative input to develop the survey, just so we're accurate. 

     And then there was a survey which was by telephone, not online.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that was done by Innovative, the telephone survey?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And was Toronto Hydro involved in that?  

     MR. LYLE:  In the development of the survey.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Then fourth, you had a series of meetings with key account customers, large users or entities with a lot of individual loads, and that was done solely by Toronto Hydro, right?  

     MR. BILE:  That's correct.  That's part of our normal key account management service. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if I understand, online workbook, focus groups, telephone survey, key account meetings, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  This is why I thought it might be helpful to bring up the list. 

     On pages 9 and 10 of the exhibit, there are four aspects of the Innovative-led customer engagement: online workbook, randomly recruited focus groups, consultation with the commercial and industrial/manufacturing customers, and then a statistical telephone survey. 

     As a separate matter, as Mr. Bile is speaking to -- has spoken to, we have a key account process that runs in the ordinary course.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if I understand correctly, the only one of these which is quantitatively valid -- tell me whether this is right -- is the telephone survey. 

     The other ones are not statistically valid, so they don't tell you anything of an empirical nature.  

     MR. LYLE:  The other ones give you directional results.  So we can't generalize by the participants that participated in the workbook, but that is several hundred people that took time out of their day to understand what the issues were and expressed their views on it.  So it is what we call qualitative.

     Then what we did is we used those qualitative tools to identify the range of views that were in the public, and then we tested the range of views through the survey, so we could then say this many people have that point of view. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in any of these customer interactions, did you tell the customers that your benchmarking results showed cost increases significantly higher than the US utilities you're comparing yourself to?  

     MR. LYLE:  The purpose of the work that we did was to 

understand needs and preferences. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I was asking the company, sorry. 

     MR. LYLE:  Okay.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  In any of these interactions, did you say:  By the way, our cost increases are higher than the US utilities we compare ourselves to?  Ever?

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. KLEIN:  No, we did not.  And I believe, as Mr. Lyle will explain, the purpose of the exercise was to determine customer needs and preferences. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  We'll get to that.  Don't worry. 

     MR. BILE:  If I could jump in, in the case of key accounts, because a lot of our larger customers tend to be multi-jurisdictional they would be aware of costs not only across Ontario, but Canada as well as different parts of the United States. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't tell them anything about comparisons, but they knew?  

     MR. BILE:  I would say that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In any of these customer interactions, did you tell the customers that the Ontario Energy Board had compared all of the LDCs in the province and found that Toronto Hydro's productivity performance was so bad it was considered an extreme outlier?  

Did you tell any of them that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We did not talk to the customers about the 

benchmarking results.  I wouldn't agree with your 

characterization of them, but we did not talk to the customers about the benchmarking results as part of the customer engagement program designed to gauge needs and preferences, specifically with respect to the capital plan.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now that's interesting to me, because, you know, you told them a lot about how your system is falling apart -- and we're going to come to that in a second -- but you didn't tell them:  Oh, by the way, our rates are really, really high by any independent standard? 

     You didn't tell them anything like that, did you?  

     MR. LYLE:  What we were trying to -- to do what you are suggesting, if you're going to bring in a comparative information about the finances, you also need to bring in a comparative information about reliability and the aging quality of the system. 

     And one of the things that I think has been relatively clear in the discussion today, and that we had become aware of through our work through the Central Toronto Regional Resource Plan, was that it's very, very hard to find clear and definitive information that compares systems in terms of age and reliability. 

     So it was hard for us to write a section like that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you were able to tell them a story about a system that was totally broken and needed money to fix it, right?

     MR. LYLE:  Well, in fact it didn't say it is totally broken.  That is your characterization. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to -- 

     MR. LYLE:  What it did say is that 30 percent of the infrastructure is beyond the age of which it was expected to continue performing, and that another roughly third was going to age out over the course of the plan that they were putting together. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In any of these customer interactions, did you tell the customers that you were going to increase their rates by 50 percent over five years?  

     MR. LYLE:  We gave them -- and you can see in the workbook the dollar impact on their bill, both by year and cumulatively.  So they saw the total impact they would have on their bill. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Did the 50 percent rate ever come up in any of those discussions, once?  

     MR. LYLE:  We expressed it in dollar values. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Lyle, you're not giving expert 

evidence here, right?  You haven't been qualified as an expert? 

     MR. LYLE:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a question.  

     MR. SMITH:  Oh, sorry.  No, he is a fact witness, as to the work he did as a matter of fact.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     MR. SMITH:  And his resume in relation to that work has been filed with the Board.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Lyle, you're not providing any expert opinion that this was done the best way to get reliable results, or that the results can be relied on as a valid expression of customer preferences and expectations, are you?  You're not providing any opinion of that sort?  

     MR. LYLE:  What we actually said explicitly in the report is that there are a number of ways that this could be pursued that had never been done before, and that we chose to do it this way in order to provide both the qualitative and the quantitative feedback. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer to my question is no, you're not providing an opinion, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I want to focus for a couple of minutes on your discussions with very large customers. 

     If you take a look at page 39 of our materials, which was extensively rewritten in January, this is -- who is it that did these?  That was -- I'm sorry, I forgot your name.

       MR. BILE:  My name is Joe Bile, and I was one of the authors of the customer engagement piece. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have a standard practice of talking to your very large customers year after year, right?  

     MR. BILE:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't get to all of them every year, but you try to get to as many as you can, right?  

     MR. BILE:  That's correct.  But it is more than just myself.  It is the whole team that tries to engage all of our customer base.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  For sure.  And you have tried to focus on the ones that have particular problems, because they're the ones that need you to be talking to them, right?  

     MR. BILE:  Amongst others.  Last year, for example, we had 133 face-to-face meetings with our key account customers.  That is the broader team.  I participated in 25 percent of them.  My co-manager participated in another 11. 

     So we had fairly senior representation at these key account meetings in addition to our normal key account managers that participated with them. 

     And it goes beyond just simply the key account, because we also, you know, pursue our customers in terms of promoting conservation demand management. 

     So we have conversations that I would say go beyond that 133 on a day-to-day basis with our customers.  I think the ones that kind of qualify as to what we deem as being a key account that deals with a lot of the subject matters that we feel are important from a key account management, that is what the 133 tallies up to. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And how many key accounts are there?  

     MR. BILE:  At the moment, we have about 500 accounts that are above that 1 megawatt threshold.  When you do some of the analysis, you find that that translates to about 375 unique key accounts.  Of that, about 30 of them are within the city of Toronto family.  So you're looking in somewhere around 340, 350 representatives.

And then on top of that, there are other accounts that perhaps don't meet the 1 megawatt threshold, but because there's so many of them and they appear in portfolio-type accounts, this isn't an exclusive club.  We're not going to not talk to them.  So we also reach out to those folks too. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this would be like McDonald's or school boards, people like that? 

     MR. BILE:  That's right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there's another 50 or 100 of them? 

     MR. BILE:  Yes.  The last time we did the analysis back in early 2014, there was almost a couple hundred of those. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you can get to about 25 percent of your key accounts every year, right?  

     MR. BILE:  As formal key account meetings, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

     MR. BILE:  That is just myself, right?  Of the 133, I get to about 25 percent.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry.  You say there's -- like, it looks like about more than 500 key account customers.  You get to 133 meetings a year.  So that's actually a third? 

     MR. BILE:  Yes, that is the math.  Sure, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Closer to a quarter, but I shouldn't do math on the stand. 

     And those discussions aren't primarily about your capital plan, right?  They're primarily about the issues that that customer is concerned with directly, right?  

     MR. BILE:  On Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 7, page 7 -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 41 of our materials, yes. 

     MR. BILE:  Thank you.  Those bullet points show the topic areas that we tend to inform our customers on when we meet with them.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact in your original evidence you had -- if you take a look at page 45 of our material, in your original evidence you had a section on very large customers, your engagement of them for DSP-specific reasons. 

     And you have taken that out because you didn't actually have a separate process of talking to the very large customers for your DSP, did you?  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, that's not quite right.  It's in the -- it's still in the evidence.  It's just been moved.  I can find the specific cite if Mr. Shepherd...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I know where it is.  It is under very large customers instead of under DSP-specific customer engagement.  

     MR. SMITH:  I think that's right.  I am just observing that it is not not there. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, the question was a simpler one. 

You didn't have a separate process of going to the large customers and saying:  This is our five-year rate plan.  This is our DSP.  What do you think?  You didn't have a separate process for that, right?  

     MR. BILE:  As a matter of fact, it was one of the topics of discussion when we met with our key accounts.  So when we did meet with our key accounts, updates on what was happening on the regulatory file was a standard part of that discussion with them, and we did our best to bring them up to speed within the confines of the amount of time that we had to work with them. 

     Generally speaking, we advised them that we were in the midst of a -- well, depending on the time -- this process has been going on since probably in the early stages of 2011 and much more formally since 2013.  So during that time we have done our best to keep our customers abreast of what's going on. 

     By the time we got to -- closer to the times around this current rate filing, we were in a situation where we were able to discuss a little bit more resolutely what we were talking about, and we were talking about the kind of investments and capital that we were needing. 

     We were providing information to them right off of our website to kind of show what the source of the outages were, talked about what we felt was the need to invest in the infrastructure, which we believed strongly in.  And at that point we usually ended up with a projection to the best available information.

At this point I would look to my colleague, Mr. Seal, to provide the most up-to-date forecast of what the potential rate impacts might be, and we would furnish that information to our key accounts. 

     It was generally well received from the standpoint that they appreciated whatever information we could provide them, but recognizing, from a lot of our key accounts, depending on the kind of size and the kind of customer you're talking about, our distribution charges amount anywhere from 8 to 12, 15 percent, that kind of range. 

     And normally there are other factors that go into their overall electricity costs.  So they were appreciative of that, but we tried our best to give them as good of a summary as we could as to where things were within our rate filings. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have in fact included in your evidence a sample of -- and it was your choice of sample, right?  Of what the sort of information you provided to your key accounts when you talked to them?

And we have reproduced that at page 46 and following of our materials.  This is a slide deck that you produced for these meetings, right?  

     MR. BILE:  This is a compendium of many different slide decks that have been brought together to give you a sample of what was presented. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exceptional.  And so I looked at this, because, you know, if I were a large customer -- and some of my members are -- I would be thinking:  All right, I want to know the system's going to keep working and it's not going to cost me too much money.  And so let's see what you say about those.


And you have a lot of stuff about reliability and the grid needs attention and stuff like that.  And I saw nothing at all about:  By the way, we're going to increase your rates by 50 percent.  In fact, I saw nothing about rates in here at all.  I saw one thing that says you're going to have small rate increases in 2013.  That's it.  

     So what did you tell them?  Why isn't it in there?  

     MR. BILE:  The slide deck that you're referring to, I believe, is the one that appears as -- in slide number 15.  That's the one you're referring to there.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's on page 53 of our material, yes.  That's the only place where I see you refer to rates.  

     MR. BILE:  That's what they wanted to see.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't think it would be important to them, after telling them all about how you need to renew the system:  Oh, by the way, you, Mr. Customer, we're going to ask you to give us an additional $10 million in the next five years?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BILE:  Mr. Shepherd, would you kindly repeat your question, please? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  At no time did you say to the customer:  By the way, this additional spending that we want is going to cost you an additional $10 million, let's say, over the next five years?  

     MR. BILE:  The slide that is showing right now on the material was a point in time.  And as we got to the point where we were able to provide estimates of what the rate impacts would be under this particular filing, we did provide estimates consistent with the impacts for this filing. 

     What we provide to customers is the bottom-line impact, which, in our years of doing this, is always what they seem to want to hear, is:  What's the bottom-line impact to me?

With all due respect, it's important for us here within these particular confines as to what the specific increase might be.  But what customers tend to want to hear is:  What's my bottom-line impact after everything is said and done?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And how is that different from:  We're going to ask for an extra $10 million from you, Mr. Customer?


Isn't that the bottom-line impact to them?  You want another $10 million?  

     MR. BILE:  Customers would like to know what percentage their rates are going to go up by, and that is what we try to furnish. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not interested in the dollars?

MR. BILE:  They are interested in the dollars insofar as their bottom-line impacts are concerned. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go back to page 48, page 48 at the top, which is your slide 5 is -- you talk about the regulatory environment and you say:  This is what's going to happen in 2015-2019.  We're going to give you rate certainty.  We're going to have fixed budgets.  We're going to present evidence for unique needs.  

But nothing in there says:  And by the way, we're asking for 50 percent more?  Nothing, right?  

     MR. BILE:  Eventually we get to slide 15 and the bottom-line impact is then articulated.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the bottom-line impact is if you're a general -- a large user, for example, a 2.4 percent increase, right?

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BILE:  The conversation would usually go like this.  We're in the midst of a rate process and we're asking for this amount of money.  We think that this will be your particular impact on your bill.  

And we would use the most up-to-date information that we had from our rates team to provide that information to customers. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So even though you knew when you were talking to them that you were going to ask for $990 million more, you didn't tell them that?  

     MR. BILE:  What we told them, sir, was what their bottom-line impact was going to be.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, you also asked them to write letters, right?  

     MR. BILE:  We offered them the opportunity to submit a 

letter of either support or opposition, if that is what they wanted. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you filed those as Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 7, appendix A, which are 15 letters from customers, right?  

     MR. BILE:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you wrote those letters, right?  

     MR. BILE:  No, sir.  The customers did. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, why is it that so many of them use identical wording?  Was that accidental?  

     MR. BILE:  No, I wouldn't say it was accidental. 

     What would happen is our customers would -- in some cases, they would take us up on that opportunity. 

     Then the next question would be:  So do you have a sample of whatever it is that the OEB might want to hear?  

     And then if they asked us at that point, we would basically go into the archives and pull something that might have been submitted.  We would redact the names of the customer, so that that wasn't visible, and ask them to use it as a guide, but otherwise to articulate their thoughts in their own words. 

     In some cases, we couldn't help but notice that, yes, the letters do sound a lot alike in some cases.  But then again, I'm not their schoolteacher.  They're allowed to do what they want to do.  I'm not holding the pen and correcting them.  These are their own words, and, good or bad, we included every letter that we received. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the phrase, for example, "depends on a balanced plan that addresses the need for a reliable electricity supply grid coupled with competitive rates," that was -- the customers just made that up out of the air?  

Or did you give them that wording, because several of them used that wording? 

     MR. BILE:  It does seem to be very popular phrasing that resonated with the customers. 

     What would have happened at that point is somebody would have seen that particular phrasing in the letter and liked it, and decided to use that same wording themselves.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in your sample, they said:  Oh, I like that phrasing, so I'll use that, right? 

     MR. BILE:  I think there were four of them actually within our sample that actually used that phrasing. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're right.  And there’s others too, right?


For example:

"We believe that continued investment in Toronto Hydro's electrical infrastructure is essential to maintaining overall levels of system reliability across the city."

     A number of them use that one too, right?  

     MR. BILE:  That was the language they decided to use on the basis of whatever guidance we might have provided in the form of sample letters. 

     Once we provided that to them, we did not go back and edit that or ask them to change things.  That was their own wording. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of the 15 people who wrote letters, seven of them don't actually pay their electricity bills, right?  They are landlords who pass on a straight pass-through to their tenants; is that correct?  

     MR. BILE:  Subject to check, that could be the case, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So their position is different from somebody who actually pays their own electrical bill, right?  

     MR. BILE:  I don't think I would agree with that. 

     Even if you're a facility manager, at some point or other you're responsible to be able to demonstrate the cost-efficiency of your management services. 

     So even if someone else is ultimately paying the costs, I think you are benchmarked on the basis of how well you do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How many of these people who wrote letters have -- had, prior to the letter, higher than average reliability problems?  

Would it be correct that more than half come within 

that category?  

     MR. BILE:  I'm certainly aware that there are some customers that submitted letters that were undergoing some reliability challenges.  So to that extent, it's true. 

     Whether or not -- the extent of them, I would have to go back and check.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, you have a company,

Wrigley, this is the fourth-to-last letter, and it says:

"During the last 12 months, we have experienced close to 60 power interruptions."


That's pretty unusual, isn't it, for one customer?  

     MR. BILE:  That's what the letter says, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked if that's unusual.

     MR. BILE:  It would –- "power interruptions" is a very general term.  It could mean anywhere from prolonged outage, to a momentary, to potentially a sag in power quality. 

     So if you take a more expansive definition of what an 

interruption to steady state power might be, 60 could very well be within the realm of a kind of a poor service.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Am I right in assuming that you're not asking the Board to conclude that these 15 letters out of your 500-odd key accounts constitute evidence of support of your capital plan from your large customers?  You're not asking the Board to reach that conclusion, are you?  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, as you will know, you and I had an exchange on this very topic well in advance of this.  And you had indicated that you might go out and talk to a bunch of customers, and we said:  Go ahead if you want to, and --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not true. 

     MR. SMITH:  It is true.  But as far as your question goes, we indicated that we were filing these letters and only these letters, and we were not asking the Board to extrapolate beyond these letters, other than that we had had customer engagement and this is what we received.  

     So we're not asking the Board to draw broad conclusions from the 15 letters that everybody feels the way these 15 letter writers feel.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me ask this question. 

     Is it true, Ms. Klein, that we asked for a list of the 133 people you met, the total, and you wouldn't give it to us?  So that we could go talk to them and see what you’d said to them, and you would not give that to us, right?  

     MR. SMITH:  That is actually incorrect, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I have to file the correspondence?  

     MR. SMITH:  If you would like to file the correspondence, you should file the correspondence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'll leave that aside.  Let's go to the consumer discussions.  

And this is -- I'm looking at your report, Mr. Lyle, and I haven't excerpted it in our materials because it is lengthy, and I have various places I want to refer to.  

     The first thing I want to ask you is:  Do we have somewhere a list of the dates that all of these things happened?  

     MR. LYLE:  There are dates in the detailed report.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I couldn't find the dates.  I wanted to get sort of a list of, you know, when did you do this and when did you do this.  Is there, like, a chart somewhere that has that?  And I just missed it?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  But it's in each of the individual reports.  So I will give you an example. 

     If you take a look at page 54 of the report --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure. 

     MR. LYLE:  -- where we look at the general service and residential customer consultations, you will see North York was February 3rd, Central Toronto February 4th, and then on the next page, Etobicoke February 6th and Scarborough February 12th.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the focus groups, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Those are the randomly recruited focus groups. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, sorry to interrupt, but I can't make notes on the copy that is on the screen. 

     Can you tell us what the exhibit number is so I can turn up my paper copy? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I'm awfully sorry.  I'm awfully sorry.  It is Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 7, appendix B.  I was actually supposed to at the beginning of the cross say you will need this to refer to at some point, and I forgot. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Thanks very much.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When was the telephone survey?  It was after that?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes.  The survey was June 10th through the 25th.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Ms. Klein, given that the survey was in June, the survey didn't have any impact on your filing, did it?  Because your filing was already pretty well written by then?  

     MS. KLEIN:  So, Mr. Shepherd, perhaps I can turn you to Exhibit 2B, section E2, and throughout this exhibit we reflect on the feedback that we received from our customers and how that impacts the capital plans that we've put forward to the Board in this proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, what are you referring to here?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Exhibit 2B, section E2, starting on page 30 at section E2.4.  We have, I think, pretty close to ten pages here.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but I guess -- the survey happened in June.  Your capital plan was done by then, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  We were still formulating the plan up until the day we filed, but -- we were at that point -- I think there was an undertaking response on this, but at some point in June we were finalizing numbers associated with the plan and then finalizing that to put into the filing.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the date of the board meeting that approved your filing?  I will take an undertaking -- that's fine -- if you don't have it offhand.  

     MR. SMITH:  I think there is a question already.  Well, sorry.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sure there is.  I just didn't feel I had to chase it down.  

     MR. SMITH:  It will just take 30 seconds.  If there is an afternoon break, we will let you know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be gone by then, I hope.  

     MS. LONG:  Do you need this now, Mr. Shepherd, or do you want an undertaking?


MR. SHEPHERD:  An undertaking is fine. 

     MR. SMITH:  Oh, sure, an undertaking is fine. 

     MR. LANNI:  We will mark that as Undertaking J9.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  TO PROVIDE THE DATE WHEN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS APPROVED THE FILING.


     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So, Mr. Lyle, I have --

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, did you want the answer to your question with respect to sort of how we have interpreted the customer engagement results as part of our application?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask that question.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Well...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked you how a survey from June 10th to June 25th had an impact on your capital plan that you filed before this Board. 

     MS. KLEIN:  So we were receiving customer engagement feedback throughout the course of Innovative Research Group's work, and we did receive some final information in June, I believe that it was. 

     And as you will see on page 31 of Exhibit 2B, section E2, ultimately Toronto Hydro interpreted the survey results as validation that the proposed strategy strikes an acceptable balance and reflects that the majority of customers accept the need for the proposed level of investment in the DSP.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Excellent.  Thank you.  

     So then let's go to page 1 of your report, Mr. Lyle.  You say about mid-range in this page:

"This initiative sought to bring customers directly into the process of finding the right balance between cost and reliability in Toronto Hydro's grid renewal plan."

     Now, just as a preliminary, "grid renewal plan" is the term you used to explain the DSP, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it is a more consumer-friendly -- 

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And because it sounds like a good thing, right? 

     MR. LYLE:  Well, distribution service is something people are not clear on, and the main focus of where the capital money was going was renewal, and people seemed to think it was descriptive.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, certainly Toronto Hydro thought it was descriptive, right?  Because it sounds like:  Oh, we have to spend this money.  We're renewing the grid.  Right?  

     MR. LYLE:  That's your view.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're actually supposed to be giving the evidence, but we will move on. 

     MR. LYLE:  Well, I am happy to.  I mean, if you take a look at how people responded, what you see when you look at all the reports that are there is that essentially consumers are conflicted.  No one wants to pay more for anything, right?

But also electricity plays a key role in their life, one that they don't normally think very much about. 

     And so when they have a chance to see the situation in terms of where the grid is and then they're given choices -- and the workbook was interesting in this, in that they were able to see two scenarios with a firm entity in terms of what the different worlds looked like that weren't starkly different, right?  There was clearly more reliability if you look at the plan that Toronto Hydro was putting forward than in the run-to-failure plan, but it wasn't the lights were going to go out if you didn't do what they said.  It was just you were going to have more problems with reliability if you paid less.  If you paid more, you would have less problems with reliability, and then you would also have some other benefits, increased modernization. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You presented the customers with two options:  We're going to let everything break and then fix it after it breaks, or we're going to fix things before they break.  Those were the two options you gave them, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  We gave them the range, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you didn't say to them:  Well, no.  We're going to let the light bulbs go out first before we replace the light bulb, but we're not going to let the car break before we maintain it. 

     You didn't give them that option, right?  That is how utilities are actually run.  

     MR. LYLE:  What we showed them is -- the question that we found -- so before we put together the workbook we did an exploratory group, and we said:  This is a pretty complicated area.  What are the sort of things you need to know in order to come up with some type of intelligent response?

And one of the things they said is:  Tell us what the minimum is.  What do you have to absolutely do?  

     And the minimum was the run-to-failure approach.  That is the minimum. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the minimum.  No utility would be allowed to let everything break before they fix it, ever; isn't that right?

Maybe I will ask Toronto Hydro that.  Have you ever heard of a utility run that way?  Ever, anywhere?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't have an in-depth knowledge of every utility.  I can speak to Toronto Hydro and what we're proposing to do here.  

     MR. LYLE:  But let's just add to the explanation.  What it said in the run-to-failure approach was with this approach Toronto Hydro would only replace equipment as it fails, with the exception of critical assets such as stations equipment.  Right?

So we weren't saying wait until something that 8,000 people depend upon breaks and then fix it depending on whether it is on hand. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What you were saying was:  If a pole falls down, we will replace it.  If a pole doesn't fall down, we don't care how rickety it is.

     MR. LYLE:  Essentially, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is that how anybody runs a utility?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, for instance, pad-mounted transformers and pole-mounted transformers.  There are utilities in this province that run to failure.  And people in different parts of Ontario have different views about that.  Some places they think that is a good idea.  Other places they think that is a bad idea. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And at any time did you say to the people you were talking to, Mr. Lyle:  There are some assets that are normally run to failure, so just as in your home you don't keep a record of how long a light bulb has been going and replace it when its useful life comes, because that would be dumb, just like that, utilities have lots of assets that they let go until they fail because when they fail, it doesn't hurt anybody too much?  

Did you tell anybody that?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, in fact that is not necessarily the case. 

     For instance, in Toronto, Toronto does not let pad-mounted transformers or pole-mounted transformers run to failure.  They try to replace them before they break, whereas other utilities in Ontario in fact do wait until they break before they replace them, unless they see something obviously wrong with them.  

And there is actually a bit of a discussion on that in the workbook and there's some feedback on that in this workbook.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so the point of this, then, was to get the customers to help you understand what's the right balance between spending more money and getting more reliability. 

     And you gave them some information on the connection between the two, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So how did you give them information on the connection between the two when the 

company can't give the Board information on that?  How did that happen?  

     MR. LYLE:  It's in the workbook; you can read it for 

yourself. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're giving evidence, and I am asking you.  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, this is the workbook that I was given by Toronto Hydro.  This is the information they were able to put together for me. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I wonder if we can go to page 5 of your report.  

What you had to do was you had to -- in order to talk to people -- people aren't experts in the electricity business, right?  So you had to give them enough information that they can assess the questions you're asking, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so their answers are going to be 

dependent on the information you give them, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  They're dependent on two things.  They're 

dependent on what they already know, and the information that we give them. 

     So one of the theorists that work in this area is a fellow by the name of Peter Sandman, and he talks about two different scenarios: a seesaw scenario and a follow-the-leader scenario. 

     And in a follow-the-leader scenario, if no one knows anything about what you're talking about, people will follow along.

That is not what we have in this situation.  People have two types of direct experience -- in fact multiple types of direct experience, but two major types of direct experience with electricity that informs how they feel about this. 

     One is they get a bill every two months.  Second is they have reliability experience. 

     So whatever we say, they judge within the context of their direct experience, both in terms of their bills and in terms of their -- and in terms of the reliability experience. 

     In addition to that, with any discussion group, we had various people that had seen various things in terms of the newspaper and through personal experience.  So all of those things came into the discussion. 

     That created -- that creates a challenge when you're doing workbooks like this, that if you are seen to overstep, to make an exaggeration, to say something that is unsupported, people respond very critically to that information in those types of scenarios.  And that's why it is called seesaw, because if you come across and you look like you are pushing an idea on someone, people will actually move against you on it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The people you talked to, did you find that a lot of them knew anything about the condition of Toronto Hydro's system?  

     MR. LYLE:  Very few people knew many of the details.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So on page 5, you talk about the various components of the workbook, and we're going to come to some of them in a second. 

     But I see here that you talk about how the electricity system works.  That's fine.  And you talk about Toronto Hydro's grid and how it works, and the challenges facing it.  And that's the aging infrastructure challenge, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Aging infrastructure, unusual weather, 

modernization, those sort of issues. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  And what Toronto Hydro is doing about it, that's number 5, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see anywhere here where it says:  And by the way, relative to others, this is how much we're charging you for where we are today? 

     MR. LYLE:  Right.  So there are two challenges in doing that in a workbook like this. 

     The first challenge is that, generally speaking, what customers are looking at is their own personal experience. 

So they're looking at:  How much do I pay for what I am going to get?  And you actually summed it up exactly that way when you were talking about what a large consumer wants to get.  I agree a hundred percent with what you said. 

     And so that is basically the approach we took here, to 

centre it on the experience of the consumer. 

     If we had done a comparative examination of costs, we would have also had to do a comparative examination of the grids; how old is Toronto's grid compared to other grids, how complicated is Toronto's grid compared to other grids, and what the reliability statistics are compared to other systems. 

     That would have taken a lot more time.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm right, am I not, that if you -- let's say the average customer has a $33 a month bill, distribution bill. 

     MR. LYLE:  That's what it says in the workbook, sure. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  If that customer -- if you tell that customer:  By the way, that $33 is $10 a month higher than the average for the province, if you tell them that at the beginning, their answers are likely to be different when you talk about the increases that are proposed; isn't that right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, they'd start with questions.  They would start by asking why it would be different here than it is in other places.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And my question is:  Is it likely that their answers to the questions about future spending would be different if they knew that Toronto Hydro's rates are higher than everybody else?  

     MR. LYLE:  It depends on how they viewed the answers to the questions. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can't estimate that?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if we could go to the next page in your material.  

     You asked in the workbook -- and you asked this same 

question in the telephone survey and in the focus groups, so it's quite consistent.  You'll see at the bottom you said you gave customers four options with respect to the --what they think for the future, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the four options are:  Spend more money.  That's fine.  I'm okay with the amount of money you're going to spend.  I don't want you to spend this much, but you've convinced me that you should.  Or no, it's too much.  


MR. LYLE:  Plus "not sure." 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We leaving "not sure" aside -- 

     MR. LYLE:  "Not sure" is important, because that gives people an opt-out if they don't feel they have enough information. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  But I guess you split it up as -- there's three answers that say the plan is okay, and one that says it's not.  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, the first answer actually says it is not okay.  The first answer says they should do more.  So it is a criticism from the other end. 

     One criticism says you're not doing enough in terms of 

outcome.  The other criticism says you're not doing enough in terms of keeping prices down.  And then there are two in the middle, one of which is someone who thinks it is the right balance and they're happy with it, and one is someone who is frustrated with the price increase but thinks they have to do it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's true, isn't it, that the first three answers are:  Go ahead and spend the money? 

     And it is only the fourth answer that's:  Don't spend the money.  Right?

     MR. LYLE:  Well, the first answer is actually:  Spend more. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is still at least approval of spending as much, right? 

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So isn't it unusual to have a set of answers in which three of the answers approve at least as much as the person wants, and only one is opposed?  

     MR. LYLE:  No, because if you just ask people:  Do you 

support or oppose an increase, people get frustrated, because they say:  I don't want to say yes to a price increase.  I don't want a price increase. 

     If I look at it and I say:  Well, I think it's necessary, then I might go along with it.  But don't ask me to say I think it's a good idea.  

So "support/oppose" leaves people frustrated and not

feeling they can totally express their view. 

     One way to look at that:  I don't like the rate increase, but I think it is necessary, that is like an orange light.  It says:  Okay, I will go along with this.  You have made the case.  But you need to pay attention to how much you're asking me to pay because I can't keep paying forever at these sort of rates. 

     So they're saying:  Pay attention to my need to keep spending under control.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to -- 

     MR. LYLE:  You're saying something different than the people that say:  I'm satisfied with the balance of the outcomes and the proposed rate increase. 

     They're saying, you know:  I'm okay with this.  This works for me.  That is a green light; it's not an orange light. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So go to page 10 of your materials, please.

     MR. LYLE:  Of the report, or the workbook?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  This is your summary of the results on cost and outcomes, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm looking at the generalizable, which is the survey, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because the directional, you agree the directional -- those data points are not -- you can't reach a conclusion from them, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am just going to ignore those. 

     So let's look at the generalizable, and it appears that what Toronto Hydro has said is that -- for example on residential, you've got 58 percent spending the extra money is okay.  And GS, 48 percent said spending the extra money is okay, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I look at that a different way, and I say, well, no, 19 percent said:  I don't like your rate increase.  And 73 percent -- or, sorry:  I'm okay with your rate increase.  And 73 percent said:  I don't like your rate increase.  Right?  Isn't that true?

     MR. LYLE:  That's true as well. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's a legitimate conclusion from this, isn't it?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, if the conclusion is that the 73 percent are saying don't proceed, then that would be incorrect.  Right?  Because there is only 34 percent saying don't proceed.  39 percent are saying:  I don't like it but I think it is necessary, so go ahead but pay attention.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have just given them a pitch saying how it is really important to spend money on -- in renewing the grid or we're all going to die.  Then you ask them:  Is that okay with you?  And their answer is:  Well, I don't like it, but if you have to.  Is that fair?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  It's not fair.  I mean, just before they're asked that question they're asked questions like:  Agree, disagree, the costs of my electricity bill is a major impact on the bottom line of my organization if it's GS and results in some important priorities and investments are put off.

And if you look at it in terms of the consumer side:  The costs of my electricity bill is a major impact on my finances and require I do without some other important priorities.  Right?

We also ask:  Agree, disagree, I can personally afford to pay more for electricity but I am worried about the impact this will have on others.

There are several other statements that are also critical. 

     The point is -- is that they are put in the boat that Toronto Hydro was trying to understand where consumers were coming from.  If they looked at those challenge and they look at their pocket book, what is the balance?  Are they prepared to have a few more outages and keep their bills down, or is it important to maintain the current reliability there is and pay some more? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, to maintain the current reliability?  

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that what you told them?  That:  We can't maintain current reliability unless you agree to a 50 percent rate increase?  Because I thought reliability is supposed to get better. 

     MR. LYLE:  Right.  That is not what it said. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said 50 percent more just to stay even?  

     MR. LYLE:  Right.  And the -- well, let's just go back to what the specific question was, because one of the realities, as you know, is that reliability is a probability, right?  So no one knows for sure whether a 43-year-old transformer is going to break this year or next year, right?  All the engineers can do is estimate.  So they were pretty careful about how they were characterizing what they would have in terms of reliability. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to turn briefly -- I am going to come back to some of the others in a second, but I want to turn briefly to the online workbook issue and page 12 of your material.

And am I right in understanding that the reason why you can't rely on the information from the online workbook is you don't know who the people were that answered?  Right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, the biggest problem is voluntary.  So whether we absolutely knew -- we had everybody's birth certificate and we could completely vouch for everyone that did it, even if we did that, they would still be volunteers and by definition not a random sample of people, so you can't apply sample statistics to a non-random sample. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't matter how many you have; it is the same problem, right? 

     MR. LYLE:  Exactly. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The people who answered the online workbook, they have could have been all Toronto Hydro employees? You would have no way of knowing? 

     MR. LYLE:  Absolutely. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board is reading that stuff, it can't conclude anything from that, except that certain people that they don't know who they were said certain things.  Right?  

     MR. LYLE:  The point of that was to collect the range of views that people had, in addition to -- so basically what we're trying to do is say:  If you care about this, that there is an opportunity for you to have your voice heard, and that we will pay attention to what is said through that process and make sure that points of view that are raised in that process make it into the survey.

Then the same idea with the random sample.  The random sample was to make sure the groups that might not be the sort of people that would volunteer to have their voices heard, that they would be reached out to and have their voices heard through this process. 

     So what we tried to do is let both types of people be heard through this exercise.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Umm... 

     MR. LYLE:  And the range of views are significant.  Those are real points of view.  And then the survey determines what the distribution is between them.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't actually know whether that range is a representative range, because you didn't have a random sample? 

     MR. LYLE:  It doesn't need to be.  That's not the point of it.  The point of it is to identify the points of view that are out there, then the random survey determines what the actual distribution of those points of view are.  Right?

     So essentially the qualitative work is generating a line-up, and then the survey is determining which of the -- which of the -- what the actual distribution is within the actual attitudes that are out there.  Each of them has their own purpose. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand how a voluntary workbook can give you the full range of views.

I have a view.  I didn't do the workbook.  I assure you it is not in there.

MR. LYLE:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have the full range of views, do you?  There is lots of people who have views out there that are not in your range; true?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, there are lots of people who didn't have their points of view expressed through this, but whether -- or that didn't express their own point of view. 

But whether people like them participated or not -- and if for some particular point of view volunteers are different than the average person out there, then the random recruited groups is designed to pick up the people that would not normally go through a voluntary process.  So they're overlapping tools. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So -- all right.  I wonder if you could go to page 147 of your report.  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And this -- page 147 is -- this is your telephone survey results, right?  Am I right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- and where it says "N" there, if you look at figure 4.15 --


MR. LYLE:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- where it says "N," that is the number of responses in that box, right?


MR. LYLE:  Right.  So those are categorizing open-ended responses. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, you have acceptance; Hydro should plan higher, right?  41 people chose that.  And you have given the percentage that gave these different reasons, right? 

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  See, I thought I would disaggregate this a bit.  And so I calculated that of these -- these are residential, right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So of these residential ratepayers, three of whom had a green answer and one had a red answer, I note that -- 

     MR. LYLE:  Mm-hmm. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- of this total, 140 said that your cost increase was reasonable, in total.  And 234 said your cost increase was too much.  Isn't that true?  

     MR. LYLE:  You'll have to explain your math.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Costs too much, 3 percent of 151, five people.  Costs too much, 4 percent of 392, 16 people.  It's not more complicated than that, is it?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  234 said too much.  140 said reasonable.  Isn't that right?  

     MR. LYLE:  Subject to check.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly, if you go to the next page, which is your general service customers that you surveyed, same thing.  47 of them said -- which is 73 percent, said too much, and 17, 27 percent of them, said reasonable; fair?  

     MR. LYLE:  Again, if the interpretation you have is that that means they don't want it to go ahead, then that's incorrect. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, we're back to the same thing.  You gave them three green lights and a red light.  No surprise that the palest green light is the one they chose.  Is it?

MR. LYLE:  With all due respect, people usually don't have a hard time saying no to price increases if they really don't want to pay them.  

     When you sit down in these groups, it was fascinating, because when you go into these randomly recruited groups -- normally, I mean, we just call them off the street.  In this case we told them:  You're a Toronto Hydro customer and we're having a consultation.  Would you come?  But normally when we -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Whoa, whoa.  Sorry.  Is this the telephone survey? 

     MR. LYLE:  No, no, but I'm talking about the underlying attitudes here.  So what I saw in terms of level of engagement here was when we wrapped up the sessions, normally when you recruit people to these things they're paid an incentive and the groups are over; they just go.

But in the discussion groups people would hang around to talk about this, because they got quite interested in it. 

     Again, when you take a look at that category that you're lumping in with the impact is too high, the ones that say that they don't like it but they think that they're necessary, those people, when they went through that process, would become filled with questions.  Right?  I think they would frankly love to be in this process and get a chance to find out things like, you know, how do you decide when you need to replace one of these things, how do you know if you have enough staff in place. 

     I mean, they -- they -- because once they start to think about the fact that that switch doesn't just go on, that there is a whole bunch of things on the other side of that switch, it gets interesting to them.  And that was fascinating. 

     So when I look and I see that acceptance but I don't like it -- I don't like but I think it is necessary, I don't see a bunch of people that are saying:  Stop.  Right? I'm seeing a bunch of people that are saying:  Proceed, but do it with caution.  Make sure if you're going to spend this money that you really need to spend it.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually I think what we see is 

something quite different. 

     Page 30 of your workbook, if you could turn that up? 

     MR. LYLE:  And is this the consumer or the --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Consumer.  

     MR. LYLE:  Okay.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you take a look at the second-last box at the bottom of the page --

     MR. LYLE:  "Renewing the system"?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- it says:

"Renewing the system for the next generation will take more than a decade.  But delaying these investments is expected to gradually worsen reliability across the system and lead to even higher bill increases down the road."

     Your majority was responding to that by saying:  Well, if it's going to cost us more not to fix this stuff, we'd better spend the money now.  

Isn't that what the conclusion was, in fact?  

     MR. LYLE:  Well, I will put it back to you.  In the briefing that I received, my understanding is that this is not the only system in North America that's in the same boat, that has aging infrastructure that needs to be replaced. 

     If these decisions are delayed, there's going to be 

increased competition for the supplies and the people that 

deliver it, with a whole bunch of people retiring in the near future. 

     So my brief, which seemed to make sense to me, was that that's true, that if these decisions are delayed, that there will be costs down the road because this stuff will have to be replaced at some point. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your results aren't reliable, even your quantifiable results are not -- your generalizable results are not reliable, if this statement isn't true; isn't that right?  

     MR. LYLE:  No.  First of all, for the telephone survey, the telephone survey didn't see the workbook.  So this is not material to the telephone survey. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You still said the same thing in your 

questions, didn't you?

     MR. LYLE:  I don't think it said that in the questions.  We can go through the questions if you like.

But the -- so if that's not true, then that's going to have an impact on what people said.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with ten minutes to spare,   I'm offering my ten minutes for auction to the other intervenors.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Maybe we will use them for our own questions. 

     [Laughter] 

     MS. LONG:  I think what we will do is actually take a break, and come back at ten after 3:00.  And Dr. Higgin, you can ask your questions at that point.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with your permission, I am going to take my leave and go to my other meeting now. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:14 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  

     Dr. Higgin, are you ready to proceed? 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  Thank you. 

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY DR. HIGGIN: 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I'm Roger Higgin for Energy Probe Research Foundation.  My focus today is just going to be on follow-ups to Exhibit K3.3.  

     What I am going to start from is just a little bit of background, where we are with that.

And this was created to compare the two CIR formulas for both THESL's formula as filed and one that we've derived based on PEG information.  

     So before we file this and get an exhibit number, I have looked at the latest revision to that and I accept all of the edits from THESL on page 2 of this exhibit, which deals with the K3.3.

The two models that we've been using are slightly different in terms of how we calculate SCAP.  I have accepted your revisions to SCAP.  My model doesn't quite come up with the same results. 

     So then having said that, we will accept all of the changes here on that page.  

     The issue, Madam Chair, that we have to correct is that if you look at the top of this sheet, and where it says "Rate revenue requirement increase," and in red there, there is a number of 14.81 percent and there is an explanation to the right that says why that correction has been made.  

     So I checked this over, and I find that it is consistent now with the latest update to the 2014 estimate for the revenue requirement on either a gross or net basis, as was discussed with an update for Mr. Shepherd's exhibit.  Okay? 

     Unfortunately, the first page hasn't had the correction done to it, so that that is no longer consistent, from an evidence point of view, with either the second page or with Mr. Shepherd's exhibit. 

     So could we look at that a moment?  And the first page I would like to look at, line 4, starting there, my understanding is that that is a net amount estimated -- as was discussed with Mr. Shepherd -- and that number should be updated to 570.6 million.  And similarly, two lines down, that should be updated to the number in Mr. Shepherd's exhibit, to 596.2 gross.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I don't mean to be obtuse.  I'm just -- I want to -- line 4, which column are we talking about?   


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  We're looking --

     MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin, can you list the number -- first the number that you are replacing and the number you are replacing it with?

     DR. HIGGIN:  What I was going to do, just to -- that was just to say these are the inconsistencies, why they're inconsistent within the evidence, both into my spreadsheet and Mr. Shepherd's, and I was going to ask that THESL update this to correct those, rather than me taking everybody's time and go and correct the numbers.  

     So how would that -- 

     MS. LONG:  Are you not going to put this to the witnesses?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  I want to put this in, subject to THESL 

correcting those numbers.  And the column we're talking about here is column E -- let me see.  Sorry.  Let me get the...


The column is 2014, which is column E, and I believe that THESL can update these numbers to correct their latest estimate revision for 2014. 

     And maybe the quickest way to do that is to have them do that, and then the question is how to file that, because it is our exhibit.  And that's the procedural issue.  

     MS. LONG:  How many numbers are you fixing here?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Well, I can go through them, or I could ask THESL to go through them for you, and that will be -- 

     MS. LONG:  Well, I think what Mr. Smith is saying is he's not quite sure what you're asking to be updated.  So to be fair, for example, in column E you're asking that the 572.2 be changed to?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  No.  I'm asking that the 546.5 number be updated to 570.6, subject to THESL confirming that correction.  

     MR. SMITH:  Is the only thing you're looking for us to do, Dr. Higgin, is to update row 4, column E?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  No.  That would also impact on the other cells as well.  For example, the 572.2 would need to be updated to 596.2, which is the same number that was given to Mr. Shepherd today.  

     MR. SEAL:  If I might be able to be helpful to the Board, I do understand, I think, Dr. Higgin's issue.  And earlier today, dealing with Mr. Shepherd's exhibit, I did indicate how we had adjusted the 2014 starting point in his exhibit to more closely reflect the impact of the change in the revenue -- estimated revenue requirement in 2014 to the revenue requirement we're seeking in 2015. 

     I believe Dr. Higgin is just asking us to do that same update in his table.  So essentially adding $24 million to 

that 546.5 value, and then the consequential increase to the "Total revenue" line that will arise from that.  

     I think it's a fairly simple calculation, and I am 

prepared to do that.  

     MS. LONG:  Are those the only changes, Dr. -- 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Those are the only changes, Madam Chair. 

     MR. SMITH:  That's fine. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  So the question, then, is how this exhibit should be filed, subject to those changes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Why don't we just undertake to do it?  And it will show up as an attachment to Undertaking -- wherever we are now, J...

     MS. LONG:  Is that fine?

     DR. HIGGIN:  That's fine. 

     MS. LONG:  Let's do that.  

     MR. LANNI:  So should we mark that as Exhibit K9.3?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  That's fine.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Seal, you are clear on what those numbers are as Dr. Higgin takes you through this spreadsheet?  For the purposes of today?  

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I think we are clear. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So with that change, what I am now going to do is to go to the second page of the handout and deal with the spreadsheet as corrected.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I think we may have missed the undertaking marking point.  

     MR. LANNI:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We have marked the exhibit, and the undertaking will be for Toronto Hydro to update that exhibit, and I --

     MS. LONG:  So I think what we're going to do is we're going to mark it as an undertaking, not as an exhibit, and we are going to attach it to the undertaking so it won't have a separate exhibit number. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  That's correct.  

     MR. LANNI:  Okay.  So the undertaking will be J9.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  TO UPDATE EXHIBIT K3.3 AND TO IDENTIFY ANY ISSUES FOUND.

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  J9.5?

     DR. HIGGIN:  That is to update K3.3.  

     Okay.  So what I would like to do now is explore with you, starting with the second page and with the top of that page, which I will call the base case. 

     Very quickly, we would like to go through and just to highlight the differences between your formulation, your CIR formula shown on the left, and those that we believe Mr. -- Dr. Kaufmann has proposed. 

     And the reason for this is that we have changed from Dr. Kaufmann's exhibit table 8 in his report to a five-year plan rather than an eight-year plan that he had.  And I discussed that on the transcript at some length with him, and basically that's the background.  

     So what I would like to understand straightaway is looking at the key assumptions there, please.  So start with the key assumptions. 

     And we've had some discussion around that, that you have a stretch factor in the I-X component of the CIR formula of minus 003 or minus 03 percent; correct?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes, that's correct. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  And Dr. Kaufmann has recommended a higher 

stretch factor of 0.006 or 0.6 percent; correct?  

     MR. RUCH:  That's correct.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  So he's also then applying another 

stretch factor which he shows -- and you don't have a stretch factor -- of 0.004; correct? 

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  And then you have nothing regarding -- I will come this in some time -- the growth factor or billing determinant.  


He has a billing determinant adjustment, and that was discussed on the transcript with him -- that's Volume 3, in a number of places -- of 0.015; correct?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  So those are the differences. 

     Now, if we look at the two formulations, the one that you filed and you're asking the Board to approve going forward into the CIR plan, we then see the outcomes of that change in the formulation. 

     But I would just like to ask you specifically about the billing adjustment, the billing determinant adjustment.  

     So could you turn up an interrogatory response for me, 

please?  That's 1B OEB Staff 5, and look at parts (b) and (c) of the response, please.  Thank you.  

     So this is from Dr. Kaufmann, of course, and my question is to you:  How does PEG's billing determinant adjustment relate to THESL's assumptions regarding net growth in revenues over the CIR plan period?  

     What is the growth factor assumption that you have in your model, your CIR model?  

     MR. RUCH:  Sorry, as we have noted, we have not assumed any growth factor in our model, and that's due to the fact that our model is incremental to the Board's fourth-generation IR model, which does not have a billing determinant factor in the formula.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Nor a growth factor?  

     MR. RUCH:  Sir, I see those two terms as being synonymous. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     So leaving aside that, which you've explained, I think we've had discussion on the record as to -- do you have any final comment on the other adjustments to the CIR formula proposed by PEG?  

     For example, could you just explain why you would not adopt some of PEG's adjustments?  For example, the stretch factors, the other factors?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think we can speak specifically to the 

proposal with respect to applying a stretch factor to the capital component of rates. 

     And I believe we've had this discussion throughout the 

proceeding, but just to summarize it, through the competitive procurement practices for materials and labour, which makes up about 80 percent of our capital costs -- and 

those are again, of course, market-driven rates -- we receive and we pass on to ratepayers directly an embedded efficiency. 

     So this means we're not just roughly, but directly gaining the benefit of natural productivity in the market. 

     And our view is that the -- by adding an additional X factor to the capital component of rates, all that would do would be to artificially constrain what we can deliver on capital. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Could you just repeat that last point? 

     MS. KLEIN:  If we were to add an additional X factor to the capital component of rates, the only effect of that would be to artificially constrain what the utility can deliver on capital.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  You are aware of course that Dr. 

Kaufmann suggested that the stretch factor be applied to both capital and to OM&A as well?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

So if we look at the results, then, from the two base cases, what we see here --  looking at the "Rate revenue requirement increase" line -- is that over those five years, which is one year of rebasing plus four years of CIR, your formula would -- as corrected, would lead to an average of 8.18 percent increase in rates; correct?  

     MR. RUCH:  Sorry, can you direct me to that? 

     DR. HIGGIN:  That's the line that deals with the revenue requirement increase, the rates revenue requirement increase, which is line 25 on the actual spreadsheet.  Correct?  

     MR. RUCH:  Column H?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, column H. 

     MR. RUCH:  That's the average percent increase in that line.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  We, in our calculations, using Dr. Kaufmann's formula -- to be clear, this is not your calculation -- we come up with 6.81 percent over the same period using Dr. Kaufmann's formula.  

     MR. RUCH:  I'm not certain that's true.  

     If you compare the "PCI escalator" line in Dr. Kaufmann's base case, if you compare that to what he's provided in table 8 of his report, on page 51 -- 

     DR. HIGGIN:  57, yes. 

     MR. RUCH:  -- those values are not the same.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  But in his report, that's an eight-year projection, not a five-year projection.  So it should be five-eighths of that. 

     MR. RUCH:  What he has done to arrive at those numbers is to decrease CN by five-eighths, as he mentions on page 56 –-

DR. HIGGIN:  Right. 

     MR. RUCH:  -- which is his rough approximation for the impact of spreading capital expenditures over eight years. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Right. 

     MR. RUCH:  And so those numbers we would expect to be the same as what is provided in the base case in your exhibit, and there is a discrepancy there.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  As you can see at the top of the column, there's a discrepancy that Dr. Kaufmann has looked at these numbers.  Okay?  So that's why my lead-in was: as we see from Dr. Kaufmann.  

But anyway, leaving that aside for the moment, you will see that the difference between the two amounts -- 

     MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin?  Sorry, one moment. 

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  I am just -- I would just like to know what my friend would like to do with this, because there's two issues. 

     The first issue is, at least as it relates to capital, I think where we ended with Dr. Kaufmann in cross-examination is that he was not making any specific proposal, because I spent a lot of time asking him about that.  

But that issue aside, Mr. Ruch has identified what he believes to be some discrepancy between what's in Exhibit 3.3.  

Is it at all helpful for him to include those areas in the answer to undertaking, because I don't -- I don't want to skip over the step of giving Toronto Hydro the opportunity to look at this and it being taken as though we do agree with it, even though it's Dr. Kaufmann's 

calculation. 

     That's all.  My friend went to the trouble of asking Mr. Ruch about it.  He identified what he believed to be an error.  Do we want to do something about that?  

     MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Madam Chair, I think at this point in the proceeding, where I have put this to Dr. Kaufmann, it's going to be very circular to try to go around that loop again.  

But without that, we just have to take it that THESL believes there is a discrepancy, and that's all we can do.  We will put that into argument as needed.  

     The other alternative is to go to Dr. Kaufmann and ask him again to review it, as I have done, and have his response. 

     It's in J -- I have the responses already noted here.  I think it is J3.3.  And get another response.  

     I'm trying to rely on the experts here, Madam Chair, not to produce my own.  

     MR. SMITH:  I don't think we're offering to do anything, but when we do J9.5, if there are other items that we're aware of where we disagree with Dr. Kaufmann, at least as the math has been done here, would it be of assistance for the Board for us to point it out?  

I would have thought the answer to that is plainly yes.  

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, I disagree with counsel, only because that should be put to Dr. Kaufmann and give him a chance to review, as he has already done, those adjustments.  Because without that I don't think there is great value to the evidence.  

So -- and I'm saying if the Board wishes to do that then we have no problem with putting those adjustments and changes to Dr. Kaufmann.  Just extends the process, but I'm fine with that if the Board wishes that.  

MS. LONG:  Well, I think what we should do is add to the undertaking that THESL will identify any issues, and then we will deal with how we're going to proceed on a go-forward basis. 

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm.  Okay. 

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith?  

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I agree. 

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So we will add that to the existing undertaking already there.  

MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm.  So taking these numbers -- subject to your comment about discrepancy, Dr. Kaufmann's formula leads to, over the five-year period, $127.62 million lower revenue requirement over that period, subject to your -- 

MR. RUCH:  You're taking 3,732 minus 3,604?  

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct.  It is just math, yes.  

MR. RUCH:  Subject to the previous discussion, yes, subject to check.  

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So looking at the time, what I would like to do is just also briefly talk about the scenario A, which is Energy Probe's scenario, and basically ask a couple of questions there. 

 First of all, can you confirm that the CIR formula capital factor CN drives off the 2015 base year for total revenue requirement of 655 million and the capital-related revenue requirement of 431.6 million, and these are used to calculate CN and SCAP for 2016?  

MR. RUCH:  The inputs for CN in 2016 are the 460.9 million in capital-related revenue requirement in '16, minus the 431.6 million in capital-related revenue requirement in 2015, divided by the 655 million in 2015. 

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. RUCH:  The SCAP is the division of the capital-related revenue requirement by total related -- sorry, total revenue requirement within that year.  And I think that might have been part of the discrepancy between the values that you put to us and what we've returned to you.  

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then the question is directionally:  If the 2015 starting point was lower, and this is what scenario A postulates -- that is, there would be a lower CAPEX reduction -- then that would drive through all of the formula right through the five years and would result in lower revenue requirements and an average rate increase, which is shown at the bottom of -- on the left side of scenario A?  

MR. RUCH:  If you're asking me to compare the 6.75 percent average -- 

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes. 

MR. RUCH:  -- rate increase, it is lower than what you have provided there, what's in the base case of 8.18 percent.  

DR. HIGGIN:  And that's -- can you characterize what is the major impact from reducing the starting point capital cost?  What would that be on the formula?  How would that work?  How would that impact?  

So if the Board found in 2015 the capital -- CAPEX should be lower by...

MR. RUCH:  It would lower the capital-related revenue requirement in 2015.  And then in accordance with your proposal, which is to reduce CAPEX by 20 percent in each year, that would then carry through. 

So you will see the capital-related revenue requirement in scenario A is lower than capital-related revenue requirement in the base case.  

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the point, anyway, is that the starting point for applying the formula is absolutely critical to what will be the outcomes and the escalation by applying the formula through the CIR plan period?  

MR. RUCH:  The CN factor in 2016 is in part determined by the revenue requirement -- or the total revenue requirement in 2015. 

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct. 

MR. RUCH:  So it is an input. 

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

So my last question comes to perhaps the other issue that is to my mind here in looking at this, and that is that -- the question of concern about the 2015 revenue requirement increase.  And the question is:  Did Toronto Hydro consider a mechanism such as amortizing that increase, particularly the capital component?  Just dealing with the capital component of that over the period of the five years and therefore smoothing the rates, leaving aside all other factors?

[Witness panel confers] 

MR. SEAL:  Toronto Hydro did not consider taking the approach that you have described.  We did look at the rate impacts of our proposal for 2015 and for the outer years in concert with all of the other components of the customer's bill, so the clearance of rate riders, the proposal for clearance of certain rate riders. 

And as a result of that, over the entire -- each year, 2015 to 2019, we determined that the bill impacts were reasonable over that period and within each year, and in fact on a total bill basis are well below 5 percent.  

DR. HIGGIN:  Total bill, but not on the revenue requirement as it relates to distribution revenue requirement?  Sorry --

[Witness panel confers] 

DR. HIGGIN:  I was asking you a question there.  With respect to the distribution revenue requirement component as opposed to the bill impact, which is, if we look at this table now in 2015, is 14.81 percent.  

MR. SEAL:  So maybe I would like to turn you to the table that I did provide on the first day of this panel.  And I apologize, I don't remember the K exhibit number, but it was a summary table of the bill impacts where I had demonstrated the various subtotals from the overall bill impacts. 

So at the distribution level, the rate impact that we're showing for 2015 based on our application is still less than 10 percent, just on that particular component, again, including the various rate riders, which we think is important in the -- in our overall proposal, because we considered all of those components when we considered the rate impacts of our proposal. 

So even in that case, as I indicated, for the distribution subtotal A level, 2015's bill impact is 9.4 percent, and down to the total bill it becomes 2.5 percent. 

DR. HIGGIN:  I'm having a little trouble understanding which exhibit you're referring to here. 

MS. LONG:  That is K7.5.  

MR. SEAL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Okay.  Now I have it.  Thank you.  

MR. SEAL:  So again I will point to the right-hand part of the table, which has the percentage increases. 

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. SEAL:  So the 9.4 percent for 2015 incorporates as we proposed, including all the various rate riders.  

DR. HIGGIN:  And does that correspond to a revenue-requirement increase of 14.81 percent?  

MR. SEAL:  Again, the 14.81 percent that is calculated here is based on our estimate of the revenue requirement in 2014, the adjustment that we made this morning. 

The bill impacts that I show in this table are taken from a customer's bill.  So we took 2014 bill, the actual bill with the actual 2014 approved rates, including ICM rate riders, and this is the percentage increase in the customer's bill from that. 

     So maybe that was a long answer to -- it generally 

incorporates the 14 percent that you are seeing here.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think those are my 

questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

Mr. Brett are you ready to proceed?

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, thank you.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:  

     MR. BRETT:  I have a compendium, which I assume the Board has.  It was handed up to you, I believe, and the Panel has it.

     Just while we're looking -- 

     MS. LONG:  We do.  Can you mark that as an exhibit, please?

     MR. LANNI:  Yes, that will be Exhibit K9.3. 

EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  BOMA CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 5.

     MR. SMITH:  I don't have a hard copy, but maybe I will just wander over and grab one. 

     MR. BRETT:  There are some extra ones down there at the end.  

Just while we're getting organized, Mr. Bile, I have just a quick question for you, if I may. 

     Could you turn up for a moment, a quick moment, the letters that were sent in to you from Toronto Hydro from the various large customers?  Do you have those handy?

That is Exhibit 1B, for the rest of you, tab 2, schedule 7, appendix A.  Those were the letters that Mr. Shepherd was discussing. 

I just wanted to pick up on one point there.  Could you turn to the one from Wrigley?

     MR. BILE:  Sure.  

     MR. BRETT:  And I think Mr. Shepherd may have read that out to Mr. Lyle, read out a particular paragraph -- no, I guess he read it to you.  

     Do you have that?  

     MR. BILE:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. BRETT:  And you notice in there -- I am looking at the paragraph:

"During the last 12 months, we have experienced close to 60 power interruptions..."

     Now, my question to you is:  This is a rather -- this is -- well, I will avoid the editorial.  My question to you, Mr. Bile, is:  Can you tell us whether or not the program that the company has put in front of the Board for the next few years, does it address the particular issue raised by Wrigley?  Are you able to give the assurance that the complaints that this company had have been remedied, or will be remedied in 2015?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BILE:  With regards to this particular customer, I don't know.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Could I ask you to look at the -- one more of these?  This is the one from ASR, which is Redpath Sugar.  

     As you will see there in his letter, in the third paragraph, the long paragraph, he talks about:

"We are, however, looking at reliability of Toronto Hydro's source and power quality for continuous service in this area, which I don't see improving at present.  Last year, I wrote a letter of poor quality power causing our company some losses of equipment, which I have had only the comments of the contract agreement conditions."

     Then he goes on to talk about some other issues. 

     Same question.  Can you -- are you able to give the Board the assurance that this particular issue that he's raising, his particular issue, is being addressed?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BILE:  I think I can answer on a general basis, and that is that, in general, the messaging that we have given all of our key accounts is that the projects that we've proposed in this filing do go some ways to improve power reliability and quality, on a general basis.  

     Specific to this customer, we would have to -- I would have to have a closer look at the particular plan for these particular feeders. 

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.  

     So could you do that?  Could you take an undertaking to do that and report back?  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Brett, are you asking for the year 2015, or 2015 to 2019?  You had asked both --

     MR. BRETT:  No.  On this particular one, this seems like a very high-priority item, to at least a layman, not a plant engineer. 

     But I am thinking -- well, let's put it in two ways.  Is it going to be done in 2015?  Or is it going to be done over the balance of the program, and in what year, as far as you can tell?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Brett, I wonder if maybe we can be helpful here.  I mean, we -- of course, as part of the capital plan -- and the engineers have spoken about this -- there are a number of investment portfolios that are designed to provide, I think, a high-value assistance with reliability for certain areas, things like contingency enhancement to make improvements to feeders and -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Excuse me.  You're burning my time here.  I am just asking a specific question. 

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Can you tell us, or would you be able to tell us by way of undertaking, whether or not this particular issue at Redpath will be addressed?  

That is all I'm asking.  If you can't, just say no.  

     MR. SMITH:  We can respond by way of undertaking.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Could I ask -- 

     MR. LANNI:  One moment.  We will mark that undertaking down as J9.6. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.6:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER RELIABILITY ISSUES NOTED BY REDPATH WILL BE ADDRESSED. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now I am going to move on to the sort of the questions I wanted to ask you about. 

     I want to start with rates, and this, Mr. Seal, I believe will be for you.  I would like you to turn up, if you could, Exhibit 8, tab 7, schedule 1, and this is amended February 6th, 2015. 

     These are these blue sheets here that have the -- that has your summary, and I am going to ask you about a couple of these sheets.  There's 15 of them, I think, all together.  But I'm interested in the -- and the numbers are on here.  I'm interested in pages 12 through 15.  So 12, 13, 14 and 15.  Do you have that?  

     MR. SEAL:  One moment, please.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So I'm going to start with 13, whoever is on the controls here, page 13.  

     Can we centre this a little bit more?  I guess 

we will move it across.  Leave it where it is for the moment. 

     What this is, Mr. Seal, could you confirm for me --  this table, among other things, first of all, this deals with -- most of it, at least, down until about two-thirds of the way down, it deals with the rate increases, the annual rate increases from 2015 through to 2019; is that right?  

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  I'm talking about the first half of the table.  

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  It summarizes our proposed rates and the bill impacts. 

     MR. BRETT:  And if you look at the line that says "Subtotal A, excluding pass-through," that is the line where you have the little red numbers.  And it is actually quite helpful, because they stand out. 

     I want to ask you, the red numbers, I take it, are the -- that's the 11.51 in 2015, so that is -- I assume that is the sort of base rate increase in 2015 over 2014; is that right?  Distribution rate?  

     MR. SEAL:  So that reflects the impacts of all of the 

various distribution rate and the rate riders that we have listed above subtotal A. 

     MR. BRETT:  I understand it includes the riders, and that would be true of each of those red numbers all the 

way across, right?  

So that, for example, in the next year 2016 over 2015, the number is 5.81, 8.13.  The next year, that's 2016 

over --  I'm getting lost -- 2017 over 2016. 

     Anyway, there are five annual rate increases there of, 

respectively 11.51, 5.81, 8.13, 11.25, 5.31. 

     Would you take it, subject to check, that those add up to approximately 40 percent over the five-year period?  And that is very rough mental arithmetic, but about 40 percent.  

     MR. SEAL:  So you're just adding up the rate increases, percentage increases?  

     MR. BRETT:  Adding up the five rate increases, yes, just linearly, not trying to do any compounding or anything like that.  Just adding up the 11.51, the 5.9, the 8.13, the 11.25, and the 5.31, you get to about 40 percent.  

     MR. SEAL:  I will take that subject to check, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And your point being that that includes the basic increase -- your point a moment ago was those numbers -- the 40 percent includes the impact of the riders as well?  

     MR. SEAL:  As listed in each of the years, you can see the impact of the individual proposed riders. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. SEAL:  As well as the distribution. 

     MR. BRETT:  And the riders, broadly speaking, as I look at this, they seem to fall away as we progress.  There seem to be a lot of them at the beginning, 2015, but fewer as we go forward; is that a fair characterization?  

     MR. SEAL:  As we indicated in the main exhibit, our rate design exhibit, schedule 8 -- or, sorry, Exhibit 8, we did talk about how we developed the clearance of these particular riders.  So -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Can you speak into the mic -- are you speaking into your mic there?


MR. SEAL:  I'm trying to.

     MR. BRETT:  I'm having a little trouble hearing you. 

You have a pleasant modulated voice, but I'm...

     MR. SEAL:  So what we tried to do was, in the development of the clearance of these various rate riders, take into account the overall rate impacts. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. SEAL:  So a number of the riders continue for a number of years before ending. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. SEAL:  Some riders, we delayed the start of them until the 2016 rate period. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. SEAL:  But overall, my objective was to try as much as possible to smooth the rate impacts over the years. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. SEAL:  Not an easy thing to do when you have this many rate riders, but that was the objective. 

     MR. BRETT:  Now, then, just as an aside, if I look at the rate riders for 2015, one of them is rate rider for 2012-2014 lost revenue.  

     Now, that's a rate -- am I correct that that would be a rider that you would put in place if you were successful in persuading the Board to allow you to depart from the half-year rule?  Or...

     MR. SEAL:  So that is the rate rider that we have proposed for dealing with the clearance of the half-year rule issue, yes. 

     And as you note, we don't implement that until 2016, is the proposal.  

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, one thing that I would observe -- and I don't know whether you have a comment.  I would ask you to comment on it if you have a comment.  The volatility of these rate increases seems considerable. 

     It starts at almost 11-point -- almost 11 and a half, and then drops to 5.8, and then bounces back up over two years to 11.25, and then back down again to 5.3.  That's a considerable variability in rate increase. 

     Do you have a comment on that?  

     MR. SEAL:  Well, again, my objective when I developed the various rate riders was to try and smooth rates as much as possible. 

     With the -- one of the considerations is that within the actual riders themselves, I typically don't want to adjust those riders for a different value in each year. 

     So typically I would like to put one rider in place and have it in place for a number of years, a year or a number of years. 

     So there is a bit of an art to developing, for the different rate riders, a clearance schedule that tries to maintain some degree of smoothness in the overall rate impact.  And I will admit it is not perfect. 

     I think what's important and what we do ultimately look at is the overall bill impact and -- which is at the bottom of this table, and in the summary table that I took Dr. Higgin to earlier, K7.5, indicates on a total bill impact, while there is variability between the years, is generally a smoother profile.  

     MR. BRETT:  So if we could -- now, what I've done here, the reason I took these four different pages -- just because I think I could perhaps shorten the time spent on this first one -- is I took different examples of different general service rate classes that have volumes that really fall in the range of the volumes that my clients have. 

     So you're going all the way from fairly small general service customers -- branches of a very large company, for example -- to fairly good-sized ones that might...

     And basically the reason I am giving you this preamble is because -- and I am going to ask -- I'm going to ask Mr. Seal here to agree with me that in each of these examples -- you've used different examples at different volumes and different demands, and that's fair enough. 

     But basically I have done the arithmetic on all four pages, and the arithmetic I've done is that in each of the four cases the rate increases over the five years vary from -- this is in total -- over five years vary from about 39 percent to 43 percent, in that range.

Would you take that, subject to check?  

     MR. SEAL:  You certainly will see differences in rate increases depending on the various billing units, and we have provided information on various levels of consumption and demand. 

     MR. BRETT:  That's right. 

     MR. SEAL:  That type of range from 39 to 43 percent, I think, would be well within the reasonability for the various levels that we have shown here. 

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  That's fine.  So you essentially are saying you would take it, subject to check?  

     MR. SEAL:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  And one of the other things I noticed, looking at these four pages -- and again, it seems to be fairly common across the four pages; in other words, the four examples you have used.  They're all general service examples with different volumes, different demands. 

     You have a customer -- you have a service charge, a monthly service charge.  Now, that is your -- that's just what it says.  That's the monthly service charge before you get into volumetric or demand considerations; it's the monthly fixed-charge part of the bill?  

     MR. SEAL:  Correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, that tends to be in all cases around 20 to 21 percent in '15 and -- in 2015 and -- well, let's just leave it at that.


Will you take that, subject to check, about 20.23 percent in 2015 over 2014?  I'm speaking about one year now. 

     MR. SEAL:  I'm not exactly sure what number you're...

     MR. BRETT:  I'm looking -- I'm still on page 13.  I am on the first row, which is -- I'm on the example, if you look at your little box there, 150,000 kilowatt-hours?  

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I see that.  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So it is 20.23 percent, right?  

     MR. SEAL:  Again, I'm not sure what numbers you're using to calculate that. 

     MR. BRETT:  Those are your numbers, not mine.  I'm looking at the column entitled "Impact in 2015."  And there's a dollar figure of $7.34 and a percentage change of 20.23 percent.  

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.  So what that actually is showing you is the percentage increase in the service charge from our proposed 2015 rate compared to the 2013 -- or, excuse me, the proposed 2015 rate compared to the existing 2014 service charge. 

     MR. BRETT:  That's what I'm saying, yes.  All right.  Okay.  Let me just move on a little bit here.  

     Now, would you agree with me that the distribution rate represents the charge that the utility makes to its customers for the services that it provides?
 Is that right?  

     MR. SEAL:  It is one of the charges that we use to provide the revenue that we need to collect the revenue requirement, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  The other charge being specialized charges for –- when I say distribution rate, I include riders in that.  So the base rate plus the riders.  

I mean, that is how you -- that constitutes what you collect from your customers to run your business; is that fair?  

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I think that's fair.  

     MR. BRETT:  And there are other charges that the customers get for things like transmission and for the commodity. 

But it's fair to say that you, as an organization, have no control over what those charges are going to be.  Those charges, the transmission charges are set by other people?  

     MR. SEAL:  Well -- 

     MR. BRETT:  I mean -- let me focus -- what I am really trying to ask you is this.  Maybe this will help.  

The point of my question is that the distribution rate is the piece that you control for which you're accountable; correct?  

     The other pieces that a customer may -- that may be part of a customer's bill, the commodity charge, the government charge, the global adjustment, as we put it euphemistically, the transmission rate portions of the bill, those are not within your power or control.  

You're not accountable for those in any real sense of the word. 

     MR. SEAL:  Well, I'm not sure I would agree with the wording "accountable" to them all. 

     I think it is true that the distribution rates -- all of the items on subtotal A and above in the sheets that you have taken us to are utility-type costs. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  That's why I started there, yes. 

     MR. SEAL:  But I did want to -- with respect to transmission rates, we do include, as part of our application and proposal, four new transmission rates, retail transmission rates for our customers; that is part of our proposal.  

But it does pass on the costs that we are charged for transmission to a utility. 

     MR. BRETT:  Subject to that exception, would you agree with what I said?  

     MR. SEAL:  I think I said that.  Generally, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Okay.  

     And I think maybe another way of putting it -- not putting it, but a second aspect of that is that you, as a distribution utility -- this may seem obvious, but I think it is important to keep the lines straight here. 

     You, as a distribution utility, don't have any control over the commodity rate, do you, the commodity price of energy in Ontario?  You don't determine that?  

     MR. SEAL:  That is a straight pass-through for us, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  Nor do you determine the global 

adjustment, right?  

     MR. SEAL:  Straight pass-through. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  And, for example, the global adjustment is a very large amount, as everybody in the room knows.  Some day, will you agree with me that it would be possible that some of these items over which you do not have control, such as the global adjustment, could change some day? 

     I say it is possible; it could change quite dramatically. 

     I will give you an example.  The government might decide, prior to an election, to refinance the global adjustment, make it disappear, have it go on the taxpayer's hide rather than the ratepayer's hide. 

     Now, that is just an example.  But that could happen, right?  I mean, you would have no control over that?  

     MR. SEAL:  That is true. 

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, will you agree generally, Mr. Seal, that energy cost overall is a fairly -- it's a fairly -- it can be -- it is not the largest cost, but it's a fairly significant cost?  It's one of the larger costs faced by many consumers, consumers of the type that BOMA represents, or of the industrial type that we saw, particularly the large buildings, the large commercial buildings?  

     MR. SEAL:  I think it's true generally, especially for large customers like in this class, that the energy portion of a bill is a significant portion of the customer's bill, yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  And are you aware that a lot of these large customers -- and middle-sized customers and smaller customers, for that matter -- all of the general service groups have been putting a significant degree of effort in the last few years into energy efficiency measures? 

     They've been –- BOMA, for example, has been a prime sponsor of many energy efficiency programs at the provincial level, the utility level. 

     And the objective of those is -- among other things, is to try and reduce either demand, or is to reduce energy costs?  

     MR. SEAL:  I am not an expert in the CDM area and energy efficiency programs.  But I do know that Toronto Hydro has a significant CDM program, and I am aware that BOMA is a recipient of some of those programs.  

     MR. BRETT:  Would you not agree -- I am not going to ask you about the details of some of these programs.  That wouldn't be fair.

But these are programs -- let me put it this way: Parties that work very, very hard to try and reduce their 

costs through consuming less, reduce their energy costs --and I would include in that their commodity, their transmission, their distribution costs.

If they then are told that your energy rates 

by -- the utility comes and says:  Well, we're going to increase our charges to you by 40 percent over the next five years, is that not a -- don't you think that's a -- that's a fairly -- that's a fairly substantial -- it's a substantial hit in both real terms and in, if I can put it this way, symbolic terms? 

     I mean, they work very hard to get a 1 percent reduction.  Would you agree with me that -- well, I can't ask you that, but let's put it this way.  The energy savings that you make from energy efficiency measures are little bits at a time.  Would you agree with that?  These are not programs that give you huge quantum leaps in reductions in energy in a single year?  

     Occasionally they might, but it is not the rule.  Does that sound -- 

     MR. SEAL:  That's an area that, again, I'm not familiar with, specific programs and specific savings that come from a program.  

     MR. BRETT:  Could I ask you -- could I ask you to turn up -- well, I don't know that you need to turn anything up at the moment. 

     I want to ask you a little bit about reliability.  We've talked around that a bit, and I want to try and hone in on that a little bit here. 

     Would you take, subject to check, Ms. Klein, that over the last -- in the next five years -- and I am looking here, just for your own reference and it is a very general way, I'm looking at Exhibit 2B, E4.  This is an excerpt from your Distribution System Plan.  It's your capital expenditure summary.  I think this has been talked about quite a lot over the last couple of weeks. 

     And I really just want this as sort of a quick reference.  I added up the system renewal expenditures portion of your capital expenditure program, and I did it in my head so it will probably be not quite accurate.

But order of magnitude, I get something like in the next five years you're planning to spend -- that's 2015 to 2019 -- you're planning to spend about $1.3 billion.  And in the last five years you spent approximately $1.1 billion on the renewal program. 

     Would you take that, subject to check?  The total of 2.4 billion over the ten years?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, just so that I know what I'm taking subject to check, you're adding up the -- 

     MR. BRETT:  I'm adding up the numbers on the line entitled -- the line that is called "System renewal."  I am adding up the ten numbers in that line. 

     MS. KLEIN:  The first five and then the second five and comparing the two to each other?  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes. 

     MS. KLEIN:  I can take that, subject to check. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I think it's been -- I think it's been subject of a fair amount of discussion that the SAIFI results of -- that Toronto Hydro have achieved over the last period are -- were, my notes say -- and this would be from Dr. Kaufmann -- 78 percent higher than the benchmark SAIFI.  That is in January 2015.  That is January 2015, the year 2015. 

     Is that -- and just further to that, I understand that the -- your own consultant PSE report -- this is the September 19th, 2014 -- your main PSE report says at page 8 that:

"Our results indicate the company is missing its SAIFI benchmarks by a large margin." 

     So it is common ground that your SAIFI experience at the moment is poor; is that fair?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  I do believe that we are under where we would think is appropriate to be on SAIFI.  

     MR. BRETT:  Now, then the -- you have -- well, the Board obviously -- I want to ask you to confirm this. 

     The Board has stated that the -- the Board keeps track of SAIFI.  It's considered one of its -- it's in the scorecard, and it is considered one of the performance indicators.  It is one of the performance indicators that the Board looks at, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, I believe it is something we report on in the context of both our annual scorecard and RRR reporting, and something we integrate -- 

     MR. BRETT:  I don't need a reference.  I just need you to confirm that it is one of the key performance indicators that the Board currently considers.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  As I mentioned, I think it's part of our RRR reporting, our annual scorecard, and it is also encompassed within the metrics --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Right.  


MS. KLEIN:  -- we propose to report on in this application -- 

     MR. BRETT:  It all adds up.  And the --

     MR. SMITH:  Did the reporter -- did you get that?

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Klein, can you repeat that?

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, so SAIDI and SAIFI are both part of the triple-R reporting that Toronto Hydro completes for the Board each year.  It is also part of the annual scorecard, the Board's annual scorecard.  And we propose to encompass it within the performance metrics that we have proposed as part of this plan.  

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now, you have, as I understand it, in your evidence, you have -- and I don't know whether you need to turn this up.  If you want I can give the reference. 

     It is -- but you have forecast -- you have forecast improvements in SAIDI and SAIFI.  We're talking now -- let's focus on SAIFI for the moment.  I will come back to the other.  But you have forecast improvements over the next five years in SAIFI; correct?  

     And my reference for that is 2B, E2, page 23.  Those are my notes.  Is that right?  All I'm asking is:  Have you forecast -- I don't know that this is a very complicated question.  It appears in your evidence. 

     You forecast improvements.  I see it is up here.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  We have forecast improvements on the system level for SAIDI and SAIFI as a result of this investment plan.  

     MR. BRETT:  And you would agree with me that the Board in its -- I think I have this in my compendium, the EB-2010-0379.  If you look at page 10 of this -- sorry, page 2 of the compendium.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes, I see that, Mr. Brett. 

     MR. BRETT:  The middle paragraph there, the second sentence:   

"Distributors are expected to meet the Board's requirements and standards and as already noted achieve continuous improvements that reduce costs and deliver service levels that their customers value."

     And so on. 

     Now -- and as you -- now, the question I have for you is:  You've obviously done a considerable amount of analysis here because of what you think you can get in increased SAIFI as a result of your upcoming five-year program, right?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, what was the question?  

     MR. BRETT:  The question was:  Would you confirm for me that in reaching the -- in publishing the forecast improvements in SAIFI that you published, that we just spoke about, that you have done a considerable amount of analysis on -- in order to put those numbers out there of the impact that your renewal program, future renewal program, your 1.2 billion program over the next five years, is going to have on SAIFI and SAIDI?

Correct?  You've had to analyze that carefully? 

     MS. KLEIN:  We have put out a forecast.  It is not associated just with the renewal program.  It is associated with the program as a whole. 

     In particular -- and I believe the engineers spoke to this -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Just if I may interrupt for a second. 

     MS. KLEIN:  No, no, sorry, I --

     MR. BRETT:  Was it not primarily a renewal program?


MS. LONG:  Mr. Brett, I want the witness to be able to answer the full question. 

     MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

     MS. LONG:  I want Ms. Klein to be able to answer the 

question. 

     MR. BRETT:  Fine. 

     MS. KLEIN:  Excuse me.  So the renewal program obviously is a contributor.  Other contributors would be we have certain targeted investments as part of the plan, such as feeder automation, which effectively makes the customer experience not as bad as it may be while we spend years replacing that old equipment.  So we see the incremental reliability improvements in part from those as well. 

     So this speaks to the nature of the program being integrated in order to -- for us to achieve some of these forecasted reliability outputs over the five years. 

     MR. BRETT:  Just as a matter -- well, just as a matter of interest, you mentioned your feeder automation program. 

     Does that make it easier for you to achieve reconnection with customers who have had outages?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Brett, I apologize, I'm not an engineer.  I mean, I can say that I understand the feeder automation program is effectively intelligent switches that are installed on feeders to detect and to isolate outages, and what that does is that reduces the impact of those outages. 

     MR. BRETT:  My information is that it should also allow you to reduce your reconnection charge; is that fair?  Can you answer that?  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, in fairness to this witness panel, this is clearly a capital-related question, and the development of the -- 

     MR. BRETT:  I will withdraw the question.  Fine.

     So the next question, then, is:  In light of your answers to the previous questions, why is it that you don't set a target for reliability?  Why is it that you don't say that if we do all this spending that we've talked about and all these various categories, including feeder automation, we guarantee that we will reach reliability numbers on SAIFI of the following over the next five years?  Why don't you do that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think the starting point is that reliability is an output, not the primary driver in terms of investment planning.  We're not solving for a particular reliability outcome. 

     MR. BRETT:  But you are -- go ahead. 

     MS. KLEIN:  I have spoken a little bit about, you know, this capital plan is to a level that maintains reliability. 

     We are forecasting some incremental small improvements in reliability, and that is in part because of the integrated nature of these investments, including some of these targeted investments such as feeder automation.

In terms of the question about setting targets, our system is very old.  A lot of the assets are past their end-of-life, and things could start breaking faster. 

     And if this happens, and SAIDI and SAIFI could be worsening despite the investment plan, we don't think that the multi-year targets are appropriate in this instance. 

     MR. BRETT:  But you -- you know, you do -- you say in other parts of your testimony that -- in fact, you said in response to, I think, one of my interrogatories with respect to primary and secondary considerations in reasons for doing a program. 

     And the way it came out was you said:  Well, the 

reason could be imminent fear of failure or failure, or it could be equipment that is obsolete.  But whatever it is, 

one of the very important underlying considerations is 

reliability, and improving reliability.  

     Now, you certainly have left the impression with us that improving reliability is a principal objective of what you're doing. 

     If you're changing that evidence -- or do you wish to say that a lot of what you're doing is not driven by reliability?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No, I'm not changing our evidence in the 

slightest.  If you would, I can -- like, to discuss any particular interrogatory responses, maybe we could turn those up together.  

     MR. BRETT:  No, I don't need to discuss it. 

     What I hear you saying is you're not prepared to -- you're simply not prepared to put out targets, period.  I don't hear a reason.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Brett -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Do you have any other reason, in addition to what you told us?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I believe I have summarized our perspective on the reasons.  I don't have anything further to add to those reasons.  

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, just a couple of questions about the capital, the structure of your program, the capital side of it. 

     I think you were referred to this before, but it is the RRFE report of October 18th, 2012.  That's the big report that everybody's been talking about for the last eight days.

Page 9, I want to read you a quick quote from that.  It says:

"The Board continues to support a comprehensive approach to ratemaking, recognizing the interrelationship between capital expenditures and OM&A expenditures.  Rate-setting that is comprehensive creates stronger and more balanced incentives, and is more compatible with the Board's implementation of an outcome-based framework."

     Do you see that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  But the approach that you've laid out, and this is in your -– well, let me start at a general level and then I will come back to some specifics. 

     The approach that you have laid out is really -– is not comprehensive, is it?  It basically uses different methods for dealing with capital and OM&A? 

     The reason I -- what I mean by that is in OM&A you're using Board-approved parameters -- productivity, inflation, and stretch factor -- although you quarrel a bit with that. 

     But in capital, you're not, right?  In capital, you are effectively -- I think the best way I could put this is that you are choosing a number for capital that will allow your revenue requirement to meet your needs in each given year.  That's where you get your capital index from. 

     In other words, it's a needs-driven number.  It's a 

reverse-engineered number.  It is a cost of service approach, essentially.  You're saying:  Here's what we need each year by way of an increase to our capital, our capital-driven revenue requirement, to meet our needs, to finance the program that we feel we must have. 

     And it's an internal number.  It is not an outside number developed by some third party like the OM&A approach is. 

     Do you understand that?  And do you accept that?  

     MS. KLEIN:  I think if we start at the beginning of your question, your suggestion includes the assumption that because our application is not a fourth-generation IRM application, that somehow the rate-setting proposal is not comprehensive.  We would not accept that proposition.  

     We do believe that we have put forward a comprehensive 

rate-setting proposal, and that we have specifically followed the Board's RRFE guidance. 

     The starting point for that would be that the Board has identified that custom IR is appropriate for distributors that have large multi-year capital needs; that is Toronto Hydro.  And the objective of the custom PCI formula that we've put forward is to reconcile those large multi-year custom –- sorry, multi-year capital needs in the context of a price cap index formula.  

     MR. BRETT:  Would you agree with me that you have used 

different methods for dealing with your OM&A and your capital -- more precisely, the OM&A and capital-driven parts of your revenue requirement?  Would you agree you have used different methods?

In the case of the OM&A, you have used a series of Board-mandated parameters, adjusted slightly to suit your preferences? 

     MS. KLEIN:  I wouldn't agree with that characterization. 

     MR. BRETT:  What have you done, then, with OM&A?  You 

wouldn't agree with the last phrase, "adjusted"?  

     What I am asking you -- let me ask the question again. 

     Would you agree with me that you are using a 

Cost of service-based approach with respect to your capital index, and a fourth-generation IRM approach with respect to your OM&A?

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. RUCH:  So the custom price cap index that we have 

proposed is not a cost of service mechanism. 

     There's the two components, the CN factor, which is the reconciliation of our capital need, but we also give back the amounts that would be provided for capital through the standard I-X approach.  

     MR. BRETT:  Subject to that, I agree you give back that amount.  It's a small amount, and I think I asked you an IR on that, too.  But that's beside the point at the moment. 

     But aside from that one qualification, Mr. Ruch, your word was a "reconciliation," which was my word, essentially. 

     I put it slightly different.  But with that one exception, will you agree with me that the capital index, base index that you used, is a way to reconcile your need for revenue requirement with the -- reconciles the money you need for the program you put forward with the revenue requirement?  

I call it an engineered number.  It is a number to make that balance.  It's not -- what it's not, clearly -- unless you choose to persuade me to the contrary -- it's not an -- it's not an index, in the sense of the index that is used for the OM&A. 

     It's not an index, right?  You call it an index and you can put it in an equation and call it an index, but it's what you said.  It's a reconciliation of -- it gets you the revenue you need to finance your program?  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Ruch, do you understand the question?

     MR. RUCH:  I am getting there, yes.  Thank you.  

     The reconciliation -- so the revenue requirement that is used to derive the CN value is based on a forecast of in-service additions. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. RUCH:  And so a component of that, yes, is going to be in-service additions related to the capital program that we've set forth. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. RUCH:  So as we've detailed in the evidence -- Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 3 -- we've detailed how that mechanism works and how there is the CN, which is that reconciliation, and then we give back the component of I-X.

And so that is the main difference between -- it's the primary difference between a cost of service framework.  

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  Okay.  I think we're agreed. 

     I will -- I've got some back-up questions here on the same subject referring to specific pieces of evidence, but given the time I think I will just move along.  

     I think you have talked to Dr. Higgin about -- somebody is trying it tell me something?  Not quite.

[Laughter] 

     MR. SMITH:  That's when the music starts. 

     MR. BRETT:  I watch my time very carefully.  


You talked to Dr. Higgin about your views on not including -- not taking account of increases in billing determinants.  We have covered that.  

     You have -- you have stated, and perhaps you would go over the reasoning again, that you don't think it is appropriate to apply the stretch factor to the capital.  Would you just go over why you don't think the stretch factor should be applied to the capital expenditure as well as to the OM&A?

You had a reason, but I didn't hear it clearly.  

     MS. KLEIN:  So -- well, I think, for one, the X factor that is included in the ratemaking formula does result in capital productivity.  The benefits of efficiencies that we derive through OM&A are picked up in capital, such as collective bargaining efficiencies, for one. 

     And second, we have competitive procurement processes for materials and the capital program that constitute collectively about 80 percent of our capital costs. 

     And what that means is that -- that we are gaining the benefit of natural productivity in the market for about 80 percent of those costs, and those are being embedded as efficiencies in the costs that are being passed through rates. 

     And so effectively it would not make sense to add a productivity factor in this case because the prices are being determined by market forces. 

     And all the effect of adding an additional X factor would be -- would be to artificially constrain what we can deliver on capital.  

     MR. BRETT:  Well, your X factor is zero.  Your stretch factor, according to you, you would like to see it at 0.03. 

Dr. Kaufmann says it is actually 0.009 percent, which is too small to measure. 

     You seem to -- I don't know that I've heard -- and perhaps I've missed it.  In your -- in your evidence, have you specified, on a bottom-up, quantitative basis, the amounts of productivity improvement that you hope to achieve over the five years?  

     In other words, have you set out the measures, each of the productivity measures and what you expect the dollar impacts of those will be over five years?  I don't know that I have seen that. 

     You've made some general statements about productivity, similar to actually what Enbridge made in their case, but is there anything in a detailed quantitative fashion that lays out how -- what specific measures you're taking... 

     I hear you on the going to market for construction contracts, although we have not seen those contracts, and I must say to you that my experience -- one of the things that -- when you talk about going to market, have you actually determined the number of change orders you have had in those contracts?  

     I suppose that is not a question I can ask you.  

     MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Brett, I believe we have filed on the record some substantial information with respect to this topic, and Mr. Nash and Mr. Walker spoke about it on panels 1 and, I believe, panel 3 respectively.  

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  You filed some confidential 

information.  But in any event, let's move on, because I am just about done here.  So let me...

     Just one other area, a short area.  Your position, I understand, is that you do not think it is appropriate to offer earnings sharing to customers in this proposal; is that correct?  You're not proposing any earnings sharing in the way that Union, Enbridge and Horizon, for example, proposed earnings sharing in their applications?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BRETT:  It's a simple question.  I haven't asked you the reason yet.  I am just asking about whether you proposed it or not.  

     MS. KLEIN:  In the case of Horizon, I believe that that was part of a settlement as opposed to a proposal, but setting that to one side, the way that our custom index works is that we have built on the productivity through the I-X framework so that benefits are returned upfront to customers, and ratepayers are not at risk, of course, if we fail to constrain our costs within the inflation minus the productivity and stretch formula over the term of the 

plan.

And in a case like that, the company would have to absorb the costs, and rates would not go up. 

     If the OEB -- if the Board is inclined to go the way of an earnings sharing mechanism, our perspective with that, there would need to be a symmetrical dead band so that we ensure that there remains an incentive in the plan for the utility.  

     MR. BRETT:  Well, I'm sorry, my hearing is not the best.  Did I hear you say that if you were to make such a proposal, you would wish it to have a dead band and you would wish it to be symmetrical?  Are you agreeing to earnings sharing under those conditions?  

     MS. KLEIN:  No.  We're not proposing an earnings sharing mechanism as part of this application.  What I said is that if the Board is inclined to go the direction of an earnings sharing mechanism, that our perspective would be that there would need to be a symmetrical dead band so that there remains an incentive within the plan that is consistent with the principles underlying the I-X formulation. 

     MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett. 


The Panel has a few questions for you.  


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Ms. Klein, could I ask you to perhaps expand a little bit on the exchange you just had with Mr. Brett?  And it's along the same lines as the conversation you might have heard I had with Mr. Walker the other day, and it was about reliability. 

     Just a few moments ago you mentioned to Mr. Brett in response to a question that the starting point is that reliability is an output and not the primary driver in terms of investment planning, and that Toronto Hydro is not solving for a particular reliability outcome.  

     Could I just ask you to expand on that, and perhaps in your response also provide what outcome you are solving for?  If it is not reliability, how would you describe the outcome you are solving for?  

     MS. KLEIN:  So I think it is fair to say that -- and you will forgive me, because I can't say it as eloquently as the engineers can, but a primary driver of the capital program is the renewal of aging assets. 

     The assets are old and they need to be replaced.  And as those assets become replaced, then some of the drivers for that would include things like safety and, within some of the programs, obviously the reliability of those assets. 

     But obsolescence is the primary driver for the replacement of those assets. 

     Obviously maintaining system reliability is something that is important to us with respect to targets, I guess, over the improving reliability -- and this is what I was specifically intending to get at in my exchange with Mr. Brett, that we have forecasted some outputs of reliability that we hope to see as a result of that plan. 

     Those reliability outcomes are premised, in part, on these target investments, such as feeder automation.  That, again, is really about making that customer experience not as bad as it may be while we replace that old equipment.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay. 

     MS. KLEIN:  I don't know if that is helpful. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  It is.  Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Those are all of our questions.  Thank you.

Mr. Smith, do you have any redirect?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Just one moment.  

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, we started with this, and Member Quesnelle didn't ask the question again.  But maybe I will give Mr. Seal an opportunity to address where we were on street lighting.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I had sensed the exuberance of the topic the other day, and I wasn't going to push it anymore.  But this would be helpful if we could, yes. 

     [Laughter] 

     MR. SEAL:  I will try to be as brief as I can. 

     [Laughter]

I will summarize what I think the issue and maybe the misunderstanding was.

 I think your question was to me:  If 95 percent of the street lighting assets aren't serving anything other than street lighting, how do those get in to be distribution assets?  I believe that was really the essence of your question. 

     And I think the answer to that is -- perhaps I didn't do a good enough job explaining.  In terms of the street lighting assets that we're moving into the distribution system, we're moving those on the basis of the street lighting decision. 

     Part of that decision, or one of the aspects of that decision, outlined the basis on which we can move street lighting assets into the distribution system.  And I think the salient point is that the street lighting assets themselves don't have to be, at the time, serving another customer, but rather have the potential or intent to potentially serve other customers. 

     So it is those -- it's that 95 percent, essentially, of the street lighting that is coming in that isn't currently serving another rate class or customer class, but could potentially serve that class.

I hope that clarifies. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  It does.  Thank you.  

     MR. SMITH:  Just one final question or line of questions, if I may?  Maybe I could just ask for something to be distributed to Mr. Ruch.  

     I have given copies to Mr. Davies, and if he could perhaps...

     Mr. Ruch, you will recall you had an exchange -- I believe it was before lunch -- with Mr. Shepherd relating to productivity?  Do you recall that?  

     MR. RUCH:  I do. 

     MR. SMITH:  And you referred to the PEG report, and you had some trouble turning that up.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. RUCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SMITH:  And I've gone and looked for PEG's report.  Is this what you had in mind at the time?  

     MR. RUCH:  Yes.  That's correct.  

     With regards to productivity, I can direct you to the line that says comparisons can be made between firms at a point in time. 

     So it's not about a rate of change; it is about 

productivity at a single point in time.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Maybe we should have -- I think this may be found in part, members of the Panel, in other people's compendiums.  But it may be -- 

     MS. LONG:  Would you like to mark it?  

     MR. SMITH:  We should mark it.  

     MR. LANNI:  We can mark this exhibit as K9.4. 

     EXHIBIT NO. K9.4:  EXCERPT OF PEG REPORT. 

     MR. SMITH:  Those are the only questions I had in 

re-examination. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Panel, thank you very much for your evidence.  You are excused.  

     I would like to deal now with, I guess, a few housekeeping issues on how we're going to move forward. 

     Mr. Smith, with respect to the identification of any issues with respect to Dr. Kaufmann's report, to the extent that those can be identified early by way of answer to that undertaking, that will be most useful. 

     And then perhaps you could communicate with Ms. Helt, at the beginning of next week when she is back, as to how you propose to deal with the issue, and the Panel will make some determinations if something needs to be done.  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I will have -- 

     MS. LONG:  I think that is the best way to move forward. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will get on it. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  And then with respect to the scheduling of argument, the Panel will sit on March 19th to hear the applicant's argument.  We will start at 9:30 in the morning. 

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you. 

     MS. LONG:  And then we will expect to hear from intervenors by way of written argument on April 2nd.  That gives you two weeks after the applicant's argument. 

     That is subject, of course, to the fact, Mr. Smith, that we had said that we wanted the undertaking response that deals -- that is confidential with respect to 2014 audited statements.  We want that undertaking filed before the intervenors file their evidence. 

     MR. SMITH:  Not a problem. 

     MS. LONG:  And I want it filed not 24 hours before, but to give them enough time to incorporate that into argument.  I don't think that timing should present any problems, given what Mr. Keizer had said. 

     MR. SMITH:  No, no.  We're going to be well in advance of that. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Good.  And then two weeks from that for your reply would be April 16th.  

     MR. SMITH:  That's a popular day. 

     MS. LONG:  Yes, it is.  So you will be busy that day.  So to the extent you want to get it in early, that would be fine, too.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  If there are no other issues -- 

     MR. DUMKA:  Madam Chair, just a couple of minor things. 

     MS. LONG:  Yes?  

     MR. DUMKA:  Just before we leave the topic, is the argument in-chief going to reflect the 2014 actuals?  Are those going to be embedded in there?  

     MR. SMITH:  I don't know what I'm going to say.  

     MS. LONG:  I don't think we know.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Because in casual conversation it came up, and I was left with the impression it was. 

     So that's why I'm a little concerned that we won't get -- we may not get the 2014 year-end actuals until well after the argument in-chief.  

     MR. SMITH:  I don't know -- the only reason I paused is I have no idea what I'm going to be saying, if anything, about 2014. 

     So, I mean, we will provide the answer to the undertaking as soon as possible.  What we do with that in argument, at this stage I don't know.  

     MS. LONG:  I think that's fair.  I am not going to ask Mr. Smith what he's going to put in his argument.  So to the extent you don't have the information, we can deal with it.  

But the undertaking will be filed and that was -- that was the commitment from Toronto Hydro.  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Sorry, go ahead. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  

     MR. DUMKA:  One other question.  I always find it very 

useful if we see Board Staff's argument before we file ours, and I am wondering how that is going to be built into the schedule.  

     MS. LONG:  I haven't contemplated that they will go first, and I am not prepared to do that at this point. 

     I will speak to Ms. Helt when she is back, and see whether or not that is something that Board Staff is amenable to.  

I don't know that they have taken the lead on certain issues, that that would be so helpful that it is meaningful.  But, you know, we can speak to it and amend the schedule. 

     But you should plan on the fact that you will meet the April 2nd deadline.

     MR. DUMKA:  Mm-hmm. 

     MS. LONG:  If they file early, they will file early, but I not going to order it. 

     MR. DUMKA:  I see.  Okay.  With an application like this, with the CIR, with some of the intricacies, there are insights.  Their perspective on some of those related issues would be -- I would find quite useful, and so --

     MS. LONG:  Duly noted.


Any other questions, comments?  

     MR. DUMKA:  I have got one other matter, which is with regards to undertakings that the company filed on Friday.  And I just -- I have a couple of minor items on that.  It is schedule J7.8, and that was the response to Mr. Shepherd on the age profile of Toronto Hydro employees.  

     And there is two pieces of information that I would find quite useful, which is what is the -- this profile based on?  Is it year-end 2014?  Year-end 2013?  If we can get the context of the profile.

As well, if we can get the headcount that matches the profile that's been provided.  All we have is percentages. 

     MS. LONG:  Well, it is not my expectation that we're going to go through answers to undertakings right now.  I just wanted to deal with schedule issues. 


MR. DUMKA:  Okay. 


MS. LONG:  So parties are certainly not precluded from speaking to each other now that we have completed this oral part of the -- oral phase.  If there are issues that the Panel needs to deal with, we will deal with.  But I suggest that perhaps you and Mr. Smith could have a conversation about this. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Fine.  

     MS. LONG:  That being said, I would like to thank the gentleman at the back who helped us with all the evidence.  It was most helpful.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the Panel. 


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:56 p.m.
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